

# UPDATED 04.09.2019 CLINICAL GUIDELINES

Musculoskeletal Surgical Services



# **Overview Statement**

The purpose of this Clinical Guideline is to assist healthcare professionals in selecting the medical service that may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve patient outcomes. This Clinical Guideline neither preempts clinical judgment of trained professionals nor advises anyone on how to practice medicine. The healthcare professionals are responsible for all clinical decisions based on their assessment. This Clinical Guideline is not an authorization, certification, explanation of benefits, or a guarantee of payment, nor does it substitute for, or constitute, medical advice.

Federal and State law, as well as member benefit contract language, including definitions and specific contract provisions/exclusions, take precedence over Clinical Guidelines and must be considered first when determining eligibility for coverage. All final determinations on coverage and payment are the responsibility of the health plan. Nothing contained within this document can be interpreted to mean otherwise.

Medical information is constantly evolving, and HealthHelp reserves the right to review and update this Clinical Guideline periodically.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, or otherwise, without permission from HealthHelp. All trademarks, product names, logos and brand names are the property of their respective owners and used for purpose of information/illustration only.



# Table of Contents

Overview Statement 1	
Table of Contents	3
Arthroplasty	)
Hip Arthroplasty5	)
Knee Arthroplasty11	
Shoulder Arthroplasty	)
Arthroscopy	
Hip Arthroscopy21	
Knee Arthroscopy25	)
Shoulder Arthroscopy	ł
Open Surgical Procedures:	)
Hip: Arthrotomy, Arthrodesis, Acrominoplasty, Cyst/Tumor, Excision, Incision/Drainage, Fasciotomy, Fracture, Tenotomy40	)
Knee: Arthrotomy, Arthrodesis, Acrominoplasty, Cyst/Tumor, Excision, Incision/Drainage, Fasciotomy, Fracture,Tenotomy, Ligament Repair	5
Shoulder: Arthrotomy, Arthrodesis, Acrominoplasty, Cyst/Tumor, Excision, Incision/Drainage, Fasciotomy, Fracture, Tenotomy, Ligament Repair54	1
Osteotomy	
Spinal Decompression Surgery	ł
Cervical Spine	1



	Cervical Cordotomy	. 65
	Lumbar Spine	. 68
	Lumbar Cordotomy	. 69
	Thoracic Spine	. 73
	Thoracic Cordotomy	.74
S	pinal Fusion/Stabilization Surgery	. 78
	Cervical Spine	. 78
	Lumbar Spine	. 82
	Thoracic Spine	. 87



# Arthroplasty

## Hip Arthroplasty

The use of Arthroplasty of the hip may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

- Total hip arthroplasty may be reasonable and appropriate for the initial surgical procedure when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following:
  - Diagnosis of Osteoarthritis and ALL of the following: (1) (7) (13) (15)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
    - Limited range of motion (ROM), antalgic or Trendelenburg gait present;
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
  - Diagnosis of Rheumatoid Arthritis and ALL of the following: (9)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
    - Limited ROM, antalgic or Trendelenburg gait present;
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
  - Diagnosis of Post-traumatic Arthritis and ALL of the following:
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);



- Limited ROM, antalgic or Trendelenburg gait present;
- Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or antiinflammatory medications.
- Diagnosis of Avascular Necrosis with Stage III collapse of the femoral head and **BOTH** of the following: (2) (14)
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
  - Limited ROM, antalgic or Trendelenburg gait present.
- Diagnosis of primary or metastatic malignancy involving the proximal femur or adjacent soft tissues.
- Previous imaging demonstrating a malunion/non-union of fracture to the femoral head or proximal femur, displaced or comminuted fracture of the femoral neck or femoral head and ALL of the following: (5)
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
  - Limited ROM, antalgic or Trendelenburg gait present;
  - Previous Osteotomy.
- Previous arthrodesis of the hip and **BOTH** of the following:
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
  - Limited ROM, antalgic or Trendelenburg gait present.
- Total hip arthroplasty may be reasonable and appropriate for the replacement or revision of previous surgical procedure when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs) and **ANY** of the following: (5) (14)
    - Loosening of one or more components of the prosthetic device;
    - Fracture or mechanical failure of one or more components of the prosthetic device; (6) (12)
    - Peri-prosthetic infection; (17)
    - Component instability;



- Weight bearing surface wear leading to symptomatic synovitis;
- Per-prosthetic, displaced or comminuted fracture; (19) (20)
- Discrepancy in length of legs that is equal to or greater than three (3) centimeters.
- Partial hip arthroplasty may be reasonable and appropriate for the replacement or revision of previous surgical procedure when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following:
  - Diagnosis of Osteoarthritis and ALL of the following: (4) (8) (11) (14) (16)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
    - Limited ROM, antalgic or Trendelenburg gait present; (16)
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or antiinflammatory medications. (11)
  - Diagnosis of Post-traumatic Arthritis and ALL of the following: (8) (10)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); (8)
    - Limited ROM, antalgic or Trendelenburg gait present;
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
  - Osteonecrosis with less than 50% of the femoral head affected and **BOTH** of the following: (3) (6) (18)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
    - Limited ROM, antalgic or Trendelenburg gait present



### The procedure codes that are associated with this policy are listed below.

Нір	CODES:
Removal of hip prosthesis; (separate procedure)	27090
Removal of hip prosthesis; complicated, including total hip prosthesis, methylmethacrylate with	27091
or without insertion of spacer	
Acetabuloplasty; (e.g., Whitman, Colonna, Haygroves, or cup type)	27120
Acetabuloplasty; resection, femoral head (e.g., Girdlestone procedure)	27122
Hemiarthroplasty, hip, partial (e.g., femoral stem prosthesis, bipolar arthroplasty)	27125
Arthroplasty, acetabular and proximal femoral prosthetic replacement (total hip arthroplasty),	27130
with or without autograft or allograft	
Conversion of previous hip surgery to total hip arthroplasty, with or without autograft or	27132
allograft	
Revision of total hip arthroplasty; both components, with or without autograft or allograft	27134
Revision of total hip arthroplasty; acetabular component only, with or without autograft or	27137
allograft	
Revision of total hip arthroplasty; femoral component only, with or without allograft	27138
Metal-on-metal total hip resurfacing, including acetabular and femoral components	S2118



#### REFERENCES

- Hermann, A., et al. "Preoperative Progressive Explosive-Type Resistance Training Is Feasible and Effective in Patients with Hip Osteoarthritis Scheduled for Total Hip Arthroplasty – a Randomized Controlled Trial." Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, vol. 24, no. 1, 2016, pp. 91–98., doi:10.1016/j.joca.2015.07.030.
- 2. (3) Arbab D, Konig DP. Atraumatic Femoral Head Necrosis in Adults. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2016;113(3):31-8
- **3.** Goyal N, Chen AF, Padgett SE, et al. Otto Aufranc Award: A Multicenter, Randomized Study of Outpatient versus Inpatient Total Hip Arthroplasty. Clinical orthopaedics and related research. 2017; 475(2):364-72.
- 4. Oliver D, Griffiths R, Roche J, et al. Hip fracture. BMJ clinical evidence. 2010;2010.
- 5. Beaulé PE, Campbell P, Shim P. Femoral head blood flow during hip resurfacing. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 2007;456:148-152.
- 6. Felson, DT. Developments in the clinical understanding of osteoarthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2009;11(1): 203.
- 7. Fransen M, et al. Does land-based exercise reduce pain and disability associated with hip osteoarthritis? A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2010;18(5): 613-620.
- Gossec, L., et al. The role of pain and functional impairment in the decision to recommend total joint replacement in hip and knee osteoarthritis: an international cross-sectional study of 1909 patients. Report of the OARSI-OMERACT Task Force on total joint replacement. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2011;19(2): 147-154.
- **9.** Hawker GA, et al. Which patients are most likely to benefit from total joint arthroplasty? Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2013;65(5): 1243-1252.
- Hochberg MC, et al. American College of Rheumatology 2012 recommendations for the use of nonpharmacologic and pharmacologic therapies in osteoarthritis of the hand, hip, and knee. Arthritis Care & Research. 2012;64(4): 465-474.
- **11.** Inacio MCS, et al. Sex and risk of hip implant failure: assessing total hip arthroplasty outcomes in the United States JAMA Internal Medicine. 2013;173(6): 435-441.
- Jensen C, et al. The effect of education and supervised exercise vs. education alone on the time to total hip replacement in patients with severe hip osteoarthritis. A randomized clinical trial protocol. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders .2013;14(1): 21.
- **13.** Klinger, C., et al. "Completing the picture: a comprehensive quantitative analysis of the femoral head and femoral neck blood supply." Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery. 2016;98(SUPP 7): 111-111.
- **14.** Pisters MF, et al. Long-term effectiveness of exercise therapy in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: a randomized controlled trial comparing two different physical therapy interventions. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2010;18(8): 1019-1026.
- **15.** Abbott JH, et al. Manual therapy, exercise therapy, or both, in addition to usual care, for osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: a randomized controlled trial. 1: clinical effectiveness. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 22013;1(4): 525-534.
- Bozic KJ, et al. Patient-related risk factors for periprosthetic joint infection and postoperative mortality following total hip arthroplasty in Medicare patients. The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery. 2012;94(9): 794-800.
- **17.** Bergh C, et al. Increased risk of revision in patients with non-traumatic femoral head necrosis: 11,589 cases compared to 416,217 cases with primary osteoarthritis in the NARA database, 1995-2011. Acta Orthopaedica. 2014;85(1): 11-17.



- (19) Kosashvili Y, et al. Dislocation after the first and multiple revision total hip arthroplasty: comparison between acetabulum-only, femur-only and both component revision hip arthroplasty. Canadian Journal of Surgery. 2014;57(2): E15.
- **19.** (20) Murphy DK, et al. Treatment and displacement affect the reoperation rate for femoral neck fracture. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 2013;471(8): 2691-2702.



## Knee Arthroplasty

The use of Arthroplasty of the knee may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

- Total knee arthroplasty may be reasonable and appropriate for the initial surgical procedure when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following:
  - o Diagnosis of Osteoarthritis and ALL of the following: (1,2,3,5)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); (3,8)
    - Limited ROM present; (3, 8)
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (1, 2)
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or antiinflammatory medications; (1,2)
    - Therapeutic knee injections have been administered; (5)
    - Patient is utilizing an assistive device for ambulation.
  - Diagnosis of Rheumatoid Arthritis and ALL of the following:
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); (8)
    - Limited ROM present; (7)
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (1,2)
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or antiinflammatory medications. (5)
  - Diagnosis of Post-traumatic Arthritis and ALL of the following:
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); (8)
    - Limited ROM present; (7)
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;



- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (1,5)
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or antiinflammatory medications. (1,5)
- Diagnosis of Avascular Necrosis and BOTH of the following: (10)
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); (8)
  - Limited ROM present. (7)
- Diagnosis of primary or metastatic malignancy involving the distal femur, proximal tibia, knee joint or adjacent soft tissues.
- Previous imaging demonstrating a malunion/non-union of fracture to the distal femur or proximal tibia.
- Previous osteotomy of the knee and **BOTH** of the following:
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); (5)
  - Limited ROM present. (7)
- Previous partial knee replacement (unicompartmental) of the knee and **BOTH** of the following:
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); (1)
  - Limited ROM present. (7)
- Total knee arthroplasty may be reasonable and appropriate for the replacement or revision of previous surgical procedure when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following: (4)
  - Loosening of one or more components of the prosthetic device; (4)
  - Fracture or mechanical failure of one or more components of the prosthetic device; (4)
  - Peri-prosthetic infection; (4)
  - Component instability; (4)
  - Peri-prosthetic, displaced or comminuted fracture; (4)
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); and **EITHER** of the following (1)
    - Weight bearing surface wear leading to symptomatic synovitis;
    - Presence of excessive scar tissue in the knee.



- Partial knee arthroplasty may be reasonable and appropriate for the replacement or revision of previous surgical procedure when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following:
  - Diagnosis of Osteoarthritis and ALL of the following: (1,5)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); (4)
    - Limited ROM, antalgic or Trendelenburg gait present; (7, 8)
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
    - Anterior Cruciate Ligament is intact; (6,9)
    - Knee ROM is full extension to full flexion, greater than or equal to 90 degrees; (7)
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (4)
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or antiinflammatory medications. (4)
  - Diagnosis of Post-traumatic Arthritis and ALL of the following: (10)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); (7)
    - Limited ROM present; (1, 7, 8)
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
    - Anterior Cruciate Ligament is intact; (6, 9)
    - Knee ROM is full extension to full flexion, greater than or equal to 90 degrees; (7,8)
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (1,4)
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or antiinflammatory medications. (1,4)



### The procedure codes that are associated with this policy are listed below.

Knee	CODES:
Arthroplasty, patella; without prosthesis	27437
Arthroplasty, patella; with prosthesis	27438
Arthroplasty, knee, tibial plateau;	27440
Arthroplasty, knee, tibial plateau; with debridement and partial synovectomy	27441
Arthroplasty, femoral condyles or tibial plateau(s), knee;	27442
Arthroplasty, femoral condyles or tibial plateau(s), knee; with debridement and partial	27443
synovectomy	
Arthroplasty, knee, hinge prosthesis (eg, Walldius type)	27445
Arthroplasty, knee, condyle and plateau; medial OR lateral compartment	27446
Arthroplasty, knee, condyle and plateau; medial AND lateral compartments with or without	27447
patella resurfacing (total knee arthroplasty)	
Revision of total knee arthroplasty, with or without allograft; 1 component	27486
Revision of total knee arthroplasty, with or without allograft; femoral and entire tibial	27487
component	
Removal of prosthesis, including total knee prosthesis, methylmethacrylate with or without	27488
insertion of spacer, knee	



#### **REFERENCES:**

- Skou ST, Rasmussen S, Laursen MB, et al. The efficacy of 12 weeks non-surgical treatment for patients not eligible for total knee replacement: a randomized controlled trial with 1-year follow-up. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2015; 23:1465.
- Alexandra Kirkley, M.D.,\* Trevor B. Birmingham, Ph.D., Robert B. Litchfield, M.D., J. Robert Giffin, M.D., Kevin R. Willits, M.D., Cindy J. Wong, M.Sc., Brian G. Feagan, M.D., Allan Donner, Ph.D., Sharon H. Griffin, C.S.S., Linda M. D'Ascanio, B.Sc.N., Janet E. Pope, M.D., and Peter J. Fowler, M.D. "A Randomized Trial of Arthroscopic Surgery for Osteoarthritis of the Knee." NEJM, vol 359 no. 11, 2008
- **3.** Azad, Abul Kalam, et al. "Role of Muscle Strengthening Exercise on Osteoarthritis of the Knee Joint." Journal of Medicine, vol. 12, no. 2, 2011 doi:10.3329/jom.v12i2.8418.
- 4. Bozic KJ, Kurtz SM, Lau E, Ong K, Chiu V, Vail TP, Berry DJ., The epidemiology of revision total knee arthroplasty in the United States. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2009 Jan;91(1):128-33
- 5. Jevsevar DS. Treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: evidence-based guideline. Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. 2013; 21(9): 571-576.
- 6. Beaufils P, Hulet C, Dhenain M, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of meniscal lesions and isolated lesions of the anterior cruciate ligament of the knee in adults. Orthopaedics & traumatology, surgery & research : OTSR. 2009;95(6):437-42.
- 7. Fitzsimmons SE, Vazquez EA, Bronson MJ. How to treat the stiff total knee arthroplasty: a systematic review. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 2010; 468(4): 1096-1106.
- 8. Bong MR and DiCesare PE. Stiffness after total knee arthroplasty. Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. 2004; 12(3): 164-171.
- 9. Dejour D, Ntaqiopoulos PG, Saggin PR, et al. The diagnostic value of clinical tests, magnetic resonance imaging, and instrumented laxity in the differentiation of complete versus partial anterior cruciate ligament tears. Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery 2013; 29(3): 491-499.
- Parratte, S., MD, A, J., MD, Dumas, J., MD, & J., MD. (2003). Unicompartmental Knee Arthroplasty for Avascular Osteonecrosis. *Current Orthopaedic Practice*, 464, 37-42. Retrieved February 8, 2019, from https://journals.lww.com/corr/Abstract/2007/11000/Unicompartmental\_Knee\_Arthroplasty\_for\_Avascular. 8.aspx.



## Shoulder Arthroplasty

The use of Arthroplasty of the shoulder may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

- Total shoulder arthroplasty may be reasonable and appropriate for the initial surgical procedure when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following:
  - Diagnosis of Osteoarthritis and ALL of the following: (2) (4) (6) (7)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); (3)
    - Limited ROM present; (3) (5) (7)
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (2) (3)
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or antiinflammatory medications. (2) (3)
  - Diagnosis of Rheumatoid Arthritis and ALL of the following: (7)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs); (3)
    - Limited ROM present; (3) (5)
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity; (3)
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (3)
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or antiinflammatory medications. (3)
  - Diagnosis of Post-traumatic Arthritis and ALL of the following: (3)(6)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
    - Limited ROM present; (6)
    - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
    - At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy;



- At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Diagnosis of Avascular Necrosis and BOTH of the following: (3)
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
  - Limited ROM present.
- Diagnosis of primary or metastatic malignancy involving the glenohumeral joint or adjacent soft tissues.
- Previous imaging demonstrating a malunion/non-union of fracture to the humeral head, displaced or comminuted fracture of the proximal humerus.
  (1) (3)
- Previous osteotomy of the shoulder and **BOTH** of the following:
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
  - Limited ROM present.
- Total shoulder arthroplasty may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following:
  - Peri-prosthetic infection;
  - Shoulder pain for greater than three (3) months with unknown etiology;
  - Peri-prosthetic, displaced or comminuted fracture;
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs) and **ANY** of the following:
    - Loosening of one or more components of the prosthetic device;
    - Fracture or mechanical failure of one or more components of the prosthetic device;
    - Component instability;
    - Migration of the humeral head is present.
- Partial shoulder arthroplasty may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following:
  - Diagnosis of Osteoarthritis and ALL of the following: (4) (8)
    - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
    - Limited ROM present; (4) (5)



- Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
- Anterior Cruciate Ligament is intact;
- Shoulder ROM is full extension to full flexion, greater than or equal to 90 degrees;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Diagnosis of Post-traumatic Arthritis and ALL of the following:
  - Pain and associated functional disability that interferes with activities of daily living (ADLs);
  - Limited ROM present;
  - Previous imaging demonstrates bone on bone articulation, severe joint space narrowing and/or bone deformity;
  - Shoulder ROM is full extension to full flexion, greater than or equal to 90 degrees;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or antiinflammatory medications.



### The procedure codes that are associated with this policy are listed below.

Shoulder	CODES:
Arthroplasty, glenohumeral joint; hemiarthroplasty	23470
Arthroplasty, glenohumeral joint; total shoulder (glenoid and proximal humeral replacement (eg, total shoulder))	23472
Revision of total shoulder arthroplasty, including allograft when performed; humeral or glenoid component	23473
Revision of total shoulder arthroplasty, including allograft when performed; humeral and glenoid component	23474



#### REFERENCES

- Li Y, Zhao L, Zhu L, et al. Internal fixation versus nonoperative treatment for displaced 3-part or 4-part proximal humeral fractures in elderly patients: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(9):e75464.
- Bhat SB, Lazarus M, Getz C, et al. Economic Decision Model Suggests Total Shoulder Arthroplasty is Superior to Hemiarthroplasty in Young Patients with End-stage Shoulder Arthritis. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2016 Jul 25. <u>http://link.springer.com/article/10.100</u>
- Izquierdo R, Voloshin I, Edwards S, et al. Treatment of glenohumeral osteoarthritis. American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2010;18(6):375-82.
  <u>http://journals.lww.com/jaaos/Abstract/2010/06000/Treatment of Glenohumeral Osteoarthrit</u>
- Rabalais RD, McCarty E. Surgical treatment of symptomatic acromioclavicular joint problems: a systematic review. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2007;455:30-7. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17159577</u>
- Hegedus EJ, Goode AP, Cook CE, et al Which physical examination tests provide clinicians with the most value when examining the shoulder? Update of a systematic review with meta-analysis of individual tests. Sports Med. 2012;46(14):964-78. doi: 10.1136/bjs
- 6. Chillemi C, Franceschini V. Shoulder Osteoarthritis. Arthritis. 2013;2013:370231. doi:10.1155/2013/370231
- 7. Rasmussen JV. Outcome and risk of revision following shoulder replacement in patients with glenohumeral osteoarthritis. Acta orthopaedica Supplementum. 2014;85(355):1-23.
- Lervick GN. CORR Insights <sup>®</sup>: Economic Decision Model Suggests Total Shoulder Arthroplasty is Superior to Hemiarthroplasty in Young Patients With End-stage Shoulder Arthritis.Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2016 Sep 6. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://shoulderarthritis.blogspot.com/2016/07/youngpatients-with-end-stage-shoulder.html</u>



# Arthroscopy

## Hip Arthroscopy

The use of Arthroscopy of the hip may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

- Hip Arthroscopy for debridement, chondroplasty and/or removal of loose or foreign body may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates EITHER of the following:
  - Intra-articular infection is present;
  - Hip pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living for a minimum of six (6) months, limited range of motion (ROM), swelling/effusion which has failed to be relieved having had at least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy and at least six (6) weeks of anti-inflammatory or analgesic medications; and; and EITHER of the following: (2) (3)
    - Osteoarthritis with Outerbridge Classification of III or IV with marked joint space narrowing (1) (6)
    - Previous MRI demonstrates loose intra-articular bodies, articular cartilage lesion and/or other mechanical derangement within the hip joint. (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (10) (11) (12) (13)
- Hip Arthroscopy for synovectomy and/or synovial biopsy may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ALL** of the following:
  - Hip pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living for a minimum of six (6) months; (8)



- Limited range of motion (ROM), swelling/effusion; (8) (9) (10)
- Previous imaging of the hip correlates with symptoms and the patient's medical presentation; (8) (9) (10) (12) (13)
- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Hip Arthroscopy for femoroplasty or actetabuloplasty may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates conservative management for at least eight (8) weeks with cortisone injections and supervised physical therapy.



### The procedure codes that are associated with this policy are listed below.

Нір	CODES:
Arthroscopy, hip, diagnostic with or without synovial biopsy (separate procedure)	29860
Arthroscopy, hip, surgical; with removal of loose body or foreign body	29861
Arthroscopy, hip, surgical; with debridement/shaving of articular cartilage (chondroplasty),	29862
abrasion arthroplasty, and/or resection of labrum	
Arthroscopy, hip, surgical; with synovectomy	29863
Arthroscopy, hip, surgical; with femoroplasty (ie, treatment of cam lesion)	29914
Arthroscopy, hip, surgical; with acetabuloplasty (ie, treatment of pincer lesion)	29915
Arthroscopy, hip, surgical; with labral repair	29916



#### **REFERENCES:**

- Bardakos NV, Vasconcelos JC, Villar, RN. Early outcome of hip arthroscopy for femoroacetabular impingement The role of femoral osteoplasty in symptomatic improvement. Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, British Volume. 2008;90(12): 1570-1575.
- 2. Egerton T, et al. Intraoperative cartilage degeneration predicts outcome 12 months after hip arthroscopy. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 2013;471(2): 593-599.
- 3. Kim K, et al. Influence of femoroacetabular impingement on results of hip arthroscopy in patients with early osteoarthritis. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 2007;456: 128-132.
- 4. Lynch TS, et al. Hip Arthroscopic Surgery Patient Evaluation, Current Indications, and Outcomes. The American Journal of Sports Medicine. 2013;41(5): 1174-1189.
- Martin RL, Irrgang JJ, Sekiya JK. The diagnostic accuracy of a clinical examination in determining intraarticular hip pain for potential hip arthroscopy candidates. Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery. 2008;24(9):1013-1018.
- 6. Stevens MS, et al. The evidence for hip arthroscopy: grading the current indications. Arthroscopy: the Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery. 2010;26(10):1370-1383.
- Mullis BH, Dahners LE. Hip arthroscopy to remove loose bodies after traumatic dislocation. Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma. 2006;20(1): 22-26.
- 8. Mascarenhas R, Frank RM, Lee S, et al. Endoscopic Treatment of Greater Trochanteric Pain Syndrome of the Hip. JBJS REVIEWS. 2014;2(12):e2. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.RVW.N.00026 1</u>
- **9.** Heyworth BE, et al. Radiologic and intraoperative findings in revision hip arthroscopy. Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery. 2007;23(12): 1295-1302.
- DeSa D, Phillips M, Philippon MJ, et al. Ligamentum teres injuries of the hip: a systematic review examining surgical indications, treatment options, and outcomes. Arthroscopy. 2014;30(12):1634-41 (can't access full journal)
- **11.** Lynch TS, et al. Hip Arthroscopic Surgery Patient Evaluation, Current Indications, and Outcomes. The American Journal of Sports Medicine. 2013;41(5): 1174-1189.
- **12.** Nepple JJ, et al. Clinical and radiographic predictors of intra-articular hip disease in arthroscopy. The American Journal of Sports Medicine. 2011;39(2): 296-303.
- Martin RL, Irrgang JJ, Sekiya JK. The diagnostic accuracy of a clinical examination in determining intraarticular hip pain for potential hip arthroscopy candidates. Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery. 2008;24(9):1013-1018.



## Knee Arthroscopy

The use of Arthroscopy of the knee may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

- Knee Arthroscopy for diagnostic purposes may be reasonable and appropriate for the when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ALL** of the following:
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs present for a minimum of six (6) months; (11)
  - Limited range of motion and/or swelling /effusion identified on physical examination; (8)
  - Previous MRI of the knee was inconclusive for internal derangement and/or pathology;
  - Therapeutic knee injections administered without relief; (1)
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Knee Arthroscopy for debridement, chondroplasty and/or removal of loose or foreign body may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **EITHER** of the following:
  - Intra-articular infection is present;
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living for a minimum of six (6) months and **ANY** of the following: (6)
    - Limited range of motion (ROM), swelling/effusion which has failed to be relieved having had at least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy and at least six (6) weeks of anti-inflammatory or analgesic medications; and; and EITHER of the following: (4)(5)(7)



- Osteoarthritis with Outerbridge Classification of I or II with previous MRI demonstrating loose intra-articular bodies, articular cartilage lesion and/or other mechanical derangement within the knee joint. (2) (4) (6) (7)
- Painful, buckling, clicking, popping, locking or giving way/weakness of the knee. (2) (4) (6)
- Knee Arthroscopy for anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) repair or reconstruction may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ALL** of the following:
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living; (3) (8)
  - Knee is giving way or exhibiting weakness; (9) (14)
  - Positive Drawer or Lachman's test and/or a positive pivot shift on physical examination; (3)(10)(13)(14)
  - Limited range of motion and/or swelling /effusion identified on physical examination; (14)
  - Prior imaging is positive for evidence of an ACL tear; (9)(14)
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Knee Arthroscopy for lateral collateral ligament (LCL) repair or reconstruction may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ALL** of the following:
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living;
  - Knee is giving way or exhibiting weakness;
  - Positive Varus Stress test on physical examination;



- Limited range of motion and/or swelling /effusion identified on physical examination;
- Prior imaging is positive for evidence of an LCL tear;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Knee Arthroscopy for medial collateral ligament (MCL) repair or reconstruction may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ALL** of the following:
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living;
  - Knee is giving way or exhibiting weakness;
  - Positive Valgus Stress test on physical examination;
  - Limited range of motion and/or swelling /effusion identified on physical examination;
  - Prior imaging is positive for evidence of an MCL tear; (13)
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Knee Arthroscopy for posterior cruciate ligament (PCL) repair or reconstruction may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates ALL of the following:
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living;
  - Knee is giving way or exhibiting weakness; (13)
  - Positive Drawer, Tibial Drop Back or Quadriceps Active test on physical examination;



- Limited range of motion and/or swelling /effusion identified on physical examination;
- Prior imaging is positive for evidence of an PCL tear;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Knee Arthroscopy for lateral retinacular release may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **BOTH** of the following:
  - Acute patellar dislocation;
  - Prior imaging demonstrates intra-articular fracture.
- Knee Arthroscopy for meniscectomy may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates ALL of the following:
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living; (1) (7) (15)
  - Limited range of motion swelling/effusion or joint line tenderness identified on physical examination, or Positive McMurray's, positive Apley test, positive Coopers sign on physical examination, or Patient reports painful buckling, clicking, popping, locking, or giving way/weakness of the knee; (7) (8) (12)
  - Previous MRI of the knee demonstrates a meniscal tear; (8) (9) (12) (15)
  - Previous imaging demonstrates normal joint space;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;  $_{(7)}$
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications. (7)



- Knee Arthroscopy for subchondral drilling or micro fracturing may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **EITHER** of the following:
  - Osteochondritis dissecans;
- Osteoarthritis diagnosis with Outerbridge Classification of III or IV or lesion of the knee cartilage which is equal to or less than 25cm<sup>2</sup> or prior imaging demonstrates a large distal femoral articular cartilage defect;
  - Previous imaging demonstrated normal joint space on weight bearing radiograph; (9)
  - At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living for a minimum of six (6) months;
- Knee Arthroscopy for osteochondral allograft or autograft may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates ALL of the following:
  - MRI positive for osteoarthritic condition;
  - At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
  - Therapeutic or Viscosupplementation knee injections administered without relief; (1), 16
- Arthroscopically assisted treatment for a fracture is considered reasonable and appropriate.



- Knee Arthroscopy for synovectomy and/or synovial biopsy may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates ALL of the following:
- Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs for a minimum of six (6) months;
- Limited range of motion, swelling/effusion present on physician exam; (6)
- Previous imaging of the knee correlates with symptoms and physical presentation; (6)
- Previous imaging demonstrates pathology;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (7)
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.



### The procedure codes that are associated with this policy are listed below.

Knee	CODES:
Arthroscopically aided treatment of intercondylar spine(s) and/or tuberosity fracture(s) of the knee, with or without manipulation; without internal or external fixation (includes arthroscopy)	29850
Arthroscopically aided treatment of intercondylar spine(s) and/or tuberosity fracture(s) of the	29851
knee, with or without manipulation; with internal or external fixation (includes arthroscopy)	
Arthroscopically aided treatment of tibial fracture, proximal (plateau); unicondylar, includes internal fixation, when performed (includes arthroscopy)	29855
Arthroscopically aided treatment of tibial fracture, proximal (plateau); bicondylar, includes	29856
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; osteochondral autograft(s) (eg, mosaicplasty) (includes harvesting of the autograft[s])	29866
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; osteochondral allograft (eg, mosaicplasty)	29867
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; meniscal transplantation (includes arthrotomy for meniscal insertion), medial or lateral	29868
Arthroscopy, knee, diagnostic, with or without synovial biopsy (separate procedure)	29870
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; for infection, lavage and drainage	29871
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; with lateral release	29873
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; for removal of loose body or foreign body (eg, osteochondritis dissecans fragmentation, chondral fragmentation)	29874
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; synovectomy, limited (eg, plica or shelf resection) (separate procedure)	29875
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; synovectomy, major, 2 or more compartments (eg, medial or lateral)	29876
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; debridement/shaving of articular cartilage (chondroplasty)	29877
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; abrasion arthroplasty (includes chondroplasty where necessary) or multiple drilling or microfracture	29879
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; with meniscectomy (medial AND lateral, including any meniscal shaving) including debridement/shaving of articular cartilage (chondroplasty), same or separate compartment(s), when performed	29880
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; with meniscectomy (medial OR lateral, including any meniscal shaving) including debridement/shaving of articular cartilage (chondroplasty), same or separate compartment(s), when performed	29881
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; with meniscus repair (medial OR lateral)	29882
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; with meniscus repair (medial AND lateral)	29883
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; with lysis of adhesions, with or without manipulation (separate procedure)	29884
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; drilling for osteochondritis dissecans with bone grafting, with or without internal fixation (including debridement of base of lesion)	29885



Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; drilling for intact osteochondritis dissecans lesion	29886
Arthroscopy, knee, surgical; drilling for intact osteochondritis dissecans lesion with internal	29887
fixation	
Arthroscopically aided anterior cruciate ligament repair/augmentation or reconstruction	29888
Arthroscopically aided posterior cruciate ligament repair/augmentation or reconstruction	29889



#### **REFERENCES:**

- Knee arthroscopy versus conservative management in patients with degenerative knee disease: a systematic review. Romina Brignardello-Petersen-Gordon Guyatt-Rachelle Buchbinder-Rudolf Poolman-Stefan Schandelmaier-Yaping Chang-Behnam Sadeghirad-Nathan Evaniew-Per Vandvik - BMJ Open – 2017
- Alexandra Kirkley, M.D.,\* Trevor B. Birmingham, Ph.D., Robert B. Litchfield, M.D., J. Robert Giffin, M.D., Kevin R. Willits, M.D., Cindy J. Wong, M.Sc., Brian G. Feagan, M.D., Allan Donner, Ph.D., Sharon H. Griffin, C.S.S., Linda M. D'Ascanio, B.Sc.N., Janet E. Pope, M.D., and Peter J. Fowler, M.D. "A Randomized Trial of Arthroscopic Surgery for Osteoarthritis of the Knee." NEJM, vol 359 no. 11, 2008
- Beaufils P, Hulet C, Dhenain M, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of meniscal lesions and isolated lesions of the anterior cruciate ligament of the knee in adults. Orthopaedics & traumatology, surgery & research : OTSR. 2009;95(6):437-42.
- 4. Health Quality Ontario. Arthroscopic Debridement of the Knee: An Evidence Update. Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2014;14(13):1-43.
- 5. Khan M, Evaniew N, Bedi A, et al. Arthroscopic surgery for degenerative tears of the meniscus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cmaj. 2014;186(14):1057-64.
- 6. Petersen W, Achtnich A, Lattermann C, et al. The Treatment of Non-Traumatic Meniscus Lesions. Dtsch. 2015;112(42):705-13
- 7. Katz JN, Losina E. Surgery versus physical therapy for a meniscal tear and osteoarthritis. New England Journal of Medicine. 2013; 368(18): 1675-1684.
- Lowery DJ, Farley TD, Wing DW, et al. A clinical composite score accurately detects meniscal pathology. Arthroscopy. 2006; 22(11): 1174-1179
- 9. Mall NA, Harris JD, and Cole BJ. Clinical evaluation and preoperative planning of articular cartilage lesions of the knee. Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. 2015; 23(10): 633-640.
- Pujol N, Colombet P, Cucurulo T, et al. Natural history of partial anterior cruciate ligament tears: a systematic literature review. Orthopaedics & Traumatology: Surgery & Research. 2012; 98(8): S160-S164.
- **11.** Sihvonen R, Paavola M, Malmivaara A, et al. Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy versus sham surgery for a degenerative meniscal tear. New England Journal of Medicine. 2013; 369(26): 2515-2524.
- **12.** Englund M, Roemer FW, Hayashi D, et al. Meniscus pathology, osteoarthritis and the treatment controversy. Nature Reviews Rheumatology. 2012; 8(7): 412-419.
- **13.** American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, Appropriate use criteria for the treatment of anterior cruciate ligament injuries, (2015) Rosemont IL, 35 pgs.
- **14.** Monk AP, Davies LJ, Hopewell S, et al. Surgical versus conservative interventions for treating anterior cruciate ligament injuries. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;4:CD011166.
- **15.** Seo, HS, Lee SC, Jung KA. Second-look arthroscopic findings after repairs of posterior root tears of the medial meniscus. The American Journal of Sports Medicine. 2011; 39(1): 99-107.
- **16.** American College of Rheumatology Position Statement; Intra Articular Hyaluronic Acid injection for OA ; https://www.rheumatology.org/Portals/0/Files/Viscosupplementation.pdf



## Shoulder Arthroscopy

The use of Arthroscopy of the shoulder may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

- Shoulder Arthroscopy for diagnostic purposes may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates ALL of the following:
  - Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs
  - Limited range of motion in the shoulder; (4)
  - Shoulder weakness is present on physical exam;
  - Previous imaging of the shoulder is inconclusive.
- Shoulder Arthroscopy for chronic shoulder instability may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates ALL of the following:
  - Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs;<sub>(2)</sub>
  - Recurrent shoulder instability/derangement;(2)
  - Positive O'Brien's, anterior or posterior apprehension or Sulcus test;(2)
  - Previous imaging is consistent recurrent shoulder instability/derangement;
  - At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Shoulder Arthroscopy for rotator cuff repair may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ALL** of the following:



- Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs ;(1)(8)
- Limited range of motion in the shoulder; (1) (4) (8)
- Shoulder weakness is present on physical exam; (1) (8)
- Positive Drop Arm, Neer Impingement, Hawkins Kennedy Impingement or Painful Arc test. (1) (7)
- Previous imaging demonstrates a Grade II or III (full thickness) rotator cuff tear; (1)(8)
- At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (1) (3) (7)
- At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications. (1)(7)
- Shoulder Arthroscopy for labral tear-bicipital tendon repair and/or debridement may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates ALL of the following:
  - Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs; (5) (7) (9)
  - Limited range of motion in the shoulder; (5) (9)
  - Shoulder weakness is present on physical exam; (7) (9)
  - Positive O'Brien's, anterior or posterior apprehension or Sulcus test. (2) (7) (9)
  - Previous imaging demonstrates a labral tear and/or bicipital tendon pathology; (7) (9)
  - At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (7)
  - At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.



- Shoulder Arthroscopy for sub-acromial decompression, acromioplasty-distal clavicular excision and/or lysis of adhesions may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ALL** of the following:
- Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs; (5)
- Limited range of motion in the shoulder; (5)
- Shoulder weakness is present on physical exam;
- Positive Cross Arm Adduction, Arm Extension, Neer Impingement, Hawkins Kennedy Impingement, or Painful Arc test; (2)
- Previous imaging demonstrates a labral tear and/or bicipital tendon pathology;
- At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (7)
- At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Shoulder Arthroscopy for synovectomy and/or synovial biopsy may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates ALL of the following:
  - Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs for a minimum of six (6) months;
  - Limited range of motion, swelling/effusion present on physician exam; (6)
  - Previous imaging of the shoulder correlates with symptoms and physical presentation; (6)
  - Positive Cross Arm Adduction, Arm Extension, Neer Impingement, Hawkins Kennedy Impingement, or Painful Arc test; (2)


- Previous imaging demonstrates a labral tear and/or bicipital tendon pathology;
- At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (7)
- At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Shoulder Arthroscopy for debridement, chondroplasty and/or removal of loose or foreign body may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **EITHER** of the following:
  - Intra-articular infection is present;
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living for a minimum of six (6) months and **ANY** of the following: (6)
    - Limited range of motion (ROM), swelling/effusion which has failed to be relieved having had at least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy and at least six (6) weeks of anti-inflammatory or analgesic medications; and; and EITHER of the following: (4)(5)(7)
      - Osteoarthritis with Outerbridge Classification of I or II with previous MRI demonstrating loose intra-articular bodies, articular cartilage lesion and/or other mechanical derangement within the shoulder joint.
      - Painful, clicking, popping, locking or weakness of the shoulder.



Shoulder	CODES:
Arthroscopy, shoulder, diagnostic, with or without synovial biopsy (separate procedure)	29805
Arthroscopy, shoulder, surgical; capsulorrhaphy	29806
Arthroscopy, shoulder, surgical; repair of SLAP lesion	29807
Arthroscopy, shoulder, surgical; with removal of loose body or foreign body	29819
Arthroscopy, shoulder, surgical; synovectomy, partial	29820
Arthroscopy, shoulder, surgical; synovectomy, complete	29821
Arthroscopy, shoulder, surgical; debridement, limited	29822
Arthroscopy, shoulder, surgical; debridement, extensive	29823
Arthroscopy, shoulder, surgical; distal claviculectomy including distal articular surface (Mumford	29824
procedure)	
Arthroscopy, shoulder, surgical; with lysis and resection of adhesions, with or without	29825
manipulation	
Arthroscopy, shoulder, surgical; with rotator cuff repair	29827
Arthroscopy, shoulder, surgical; biceps tenodesis	29828



- 1. toi E. Rotator cuff tear: physical examination and conservative treatment. Journal of orthopaedic science : official journal of the Japanese Orthopaedic Association. 2013;18(2):197-204.
- Hegedus EJ, Goode AP, Cook CE, et al. Which physical examination tests provide clinicians with the most value when examining the shoulder? Update of a systematic review with meta-analysis of individual tests. Sports Med. 2012;46(14):964-78. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-091066. Epub 2012 Jul 7. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22773322</u>
- 3. Pedowitz RA, Yamaguchi K, Ahmad CS, et al. Optimizing the management of rotator cuff problems. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2011;19(6):368-79. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21628648
- Henry P, Wasserstein D, Park S, et al. Arthroscopic Repair for Chronic Massive Rotator Cuff Tears: A Systematic Review. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(12):2472-80. doi: 10.1016/j.arthro.2015.06.038. Epub 2015 Sep11.

#### http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26364549

- Erickson J, Lavery K, Monica J, et al. Surgical treatment of symptomatic superior labrum anteriorposterior tears in patients older than 40 years: a systematic review. (2015) Am J Sports Med. 2015;43(5):1274-82. doi: 10.1177/0363546514536874. Epub 2014 Jun
- Kanbe K, Chiba J, Inoue Y, et al. Analysis of clinical factors related to the efficacy of shoulder arthroscopic synovectomy plus capsular release in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol. 2015;25(3):451-5. doi: 10.1007/s00590-014-1570-5. Epub 2014 Dec 24. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25537932</u>
- 7. Kibler WB, Sciascia A. Current Practice for the Diagnosis of a SLAP Lesion: Systematic Review and Physician Survey. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(12):2456-69. doi: 10.1016/j.arthro.2015.06.033. Epub 2015 Aug 28. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26321113</u>
- 8. Harris JD, Pedroza A, Jones GL; MOON (Multicenter Orthopedic Outcomes Network) Predictors of pain and function in patients with symptomatic, atraumatic full-thickness rotator cuff tears: a time-zero analysis of a prospective patient cohort enrolled in a structures Physical Therapy Program
- Forsythe B, Frank RM, Ahmed M, et al. Identification and treatment of existing copathology in anterior shoulder instability repair. Arthroscopy. 2015;31(1):154-66. doi: 10.1016/j.arthro.2014.06.014. Epub 2014 Sep 8. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/252</u>



# Open Surgical Procedures:

The use of incisional/excisional surgical procedures, to include arthrotomy, arthrodesis, claviculectomy, tenotomy, acrominoplasty, incision/drainage, excisional procedures, sequestrotomy, radical resection, grafting and reconstruction, may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

## Hip: Arthrotomy, Arthrodesis, Acrominoplasty, Cyst/Tumor, Excision, Incision/Drainage, Fasciotomy, Fracture, Tenotomy

The use of open surgical procedure of the hip may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

- Open surgery of the hip for debridement, chondroplasty removal of a loose or foreign body may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and EITHER of the following: (22-25)
  - Intra-articular infection is present;
  - Hip pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living for a minimum of six (6) months, limited range of motion (ROM), swelling/effusion which has failed to be relieved having had at least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy and at least six (6) weeks of anti-inflammatory or analgesic medications; and; and EITHER of the following:



- Osteoarthritis with Outerbridge Classification of III or IV with marked joint space narrowing
- Previous MRI demonstrates loose intra-articular bodies, articular cartilage lesion and/or other mechanical derangement within the hip joint.
- Open surgery of the hip for tumor resection with our without biopsy may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and **EITHER** of the following:
  - Known or suspected primary malignancy;
  - Known or suspected metastatic disease.
- Open surgery of the hip for fracture treatment is considered reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a documented fracture.
- Arthrodesis of the sacroiliac joint may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies **ANY** of the following:
  - Trauma with instability;
  - Proven Infections
  - Tumor
- Manipulation of the hip under anesthesia for treatment of arthrofibrosis may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates
  ALL of the following: (9-21)
  - Hip pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs;
  - Limited range of motion on physical examination;
  - Diagnosis of athrofibrosis;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;



• At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.



Hip	CODES:
Incision and drainage, pelvis or hip joint area; infected bursa	26991
Incision, bone cortex, pelvis and/or hip joint (eg, osteomyelitis or bone abscess)	26992
Tenotomy, adductor of hip, percutaneous (separate procedure)	27000
Tenotomy, adductor of hip, open	27001
Tenotomy, adductor, subcutaneous, open, with obturator neurectomy	27003
Tenotomy, hip flexor(s), open (separate procedure)	27005
Tenotomy, abductors and/or extensor(s) of hip, open (separate procedure)	27006
Fasciotomy, hip or thigh, any type	27025
Capsulectomy or capsulotomy, hip, with or without excision of heterotopic bone, with release of	27036
sartorius, iliopsoas)	
Arthrotomy, with biopsy; sacroiliac joint	27050
Arthrotomy, with biopsy; hip joint	27052
Arthrotomy with synovectomy, hip joint	27054
Decompression fasciotomy(ies), pelvic (buttock) compartment(s) (eg, gluteus medius-minimus,	27057
gluteus maximus, iliopsoas, and/or tensor fascia lata muscle) with debridement of nonviable	
muscle, unilateral	
Excision; ischial bursa	27060
Excision; trochanteric bursa or calcification	27062
Excision of bone cyst or benign tumor, wing of ilium, symphysis pubis, or greater trochanter of	27065
femur; superficial, includes autograft, when performed	
Excision of bone cyst or benign tumor, wing of ilium, symphysis pubis, or greater trochanter of	27067
femur; with autograft requiring separate incision	
Partial excision, wing of ilium, symphysis pubis, or greater trochanter of femur, (craterization,	27070
saucerization) (eg, osteomyelitis or bone abscess); superficial	
Partial excision, wing of ilium, symphysis pubis, or greater trochanter of femur, (craterization,	27071
saucerization) (eg, osteomyelitis or bone abscess); deep (subfascial or intramuscular)	
Radical resection of tumor; wing of ilium, 1 pubic or ischial ramus or symphysis pubis	27075
Radical resection of tumor; ilium, including acetabulum, both pubic rami, or ischium and	27076
acetabulum	
Radical resection of tumor; innominate bone, total	27077
Radical resection of tumor; ischial tuberosity and greater trochanter of femur	27078
Manipulation, hip joint, requiring general anesthesia	27275
Repair, nonunion or malunion, femur, distal to head and neck; without graft (eg, compression technique)	27470



Repair, nonunion or malunion, femur, distal to head and neck; with iliac or other autogenous bone graft (includes obtaining graft)	27472
Prophylactic treatment (nailing, pinning, plating, or wiring) with or without methylmethacrylate, femur	27495
Arthrotomy, hip, including exploration or removal of loose or foreign body	27033
Denervation, hip joint, intrapelvic or extrapelvic intra-articular branches of sciatic, femoral, or obturator nerves	27035
Prophylactic treatment (nailing, pinning, plating or wiring) with or without methylmethacrylate, femoral neck and proximal femur	27187
Arthrodesis, sacroiliac joint, percutaneous or minimally invasive (indirect visualization), with image guidance, includes obtaining bone graft when performed, and placement of transfixing device	27279
Arthrodesis, open, sacroiliac joint, including obtaining bone graft, including instrumentation, when performed	27280
Arthrodesis, symphysis pubis (including obtaining graft)	27282
Arthrodesis, hip joint (including obtaining graft);	27284
Arthrodesis, hip joint (including obtaining graft); with subtrochanteric osteotomy	27286



- 1. HCPUnet, Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. http://hcupnet.ahrq.gov (Accessed on December 20, 2012).
- 2. Mandeep S. Lehil, BS, Kevin J. Bozic, MD, MBA, Trends in total Hip Arthroplasty Implant utilization in the United States. The Journal of Arthroplasty October 2014 Vol 29, Issue 10, Pages 1915 1918
- Kevin J. Bozic, MD, MBA, Steven M. Kurtz, PhD, Edmund Lau, MS, Kevin Ong, PhD, Thomas P. Vail, MD, Daniel J. Berry, MD. The Epidemiology of Revision Total Hip Arthroplasty in the United States. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2009 Jan;91(1):128-33
- 4. Trends in Hip Arthroscopy Utilization in the United States. Kevin Bozic-Vanessa Chan-Frank Valone-Brian Feeley-Thomas Vail The Journal of Arthroplasty 2013
- Hermann, A., et al. "Preoperative Progressive Explosive-Type Resistance Training Is Feasible and Effective in Patients with Hip Osteoarthritis Scheduled for Total Hip Arthroplasty – a Randomized Controlled Trial." Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, vol. 24, no. 1, 2016, pp. 91–98., doi:10.1016/j.joca.2015.07.030.



## Knee: Arthrotomy, Arthrodesis, Acrominoplasty, Cyst/Tumor, Excision, Incision/Drainage, Fasciotomy, Fracture, Tenotomy, Ligament Repair

The use of open surgical procedure of the knee may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

- Open surgery of the knee for anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) repair or reconstruction may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and ALL of the following: (9-21)
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living;
  - Knee is giving way or exhibiting weakness;
  - Positive Drawer or Lachman's test and/or a positive pivot shift on physical examination;
  - Limited range of motion and/or swelling /effusion identified on physical examination;
  - Prior imaging is positive for evidence of an ACL tear;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Open surgery of the knee for lateral collateral ligament (LCL) repair or reconstruction may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical



record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and ALL of the following: (9-21)

- Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living;
- Knee is giving way or exhibiting weakness;
- Positive Varus Stress test on physical examination;
- Limited range of motion and/or swelling /effusion identified on physical examination;
- Prior imaging is positive for evidence of an LCL tear;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Open surgery of the knee for medial collateral ligament (MCL) repair or reconstruction may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and ALL of the following: (9-21)
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living;
  - Knee is giving way or exhibiting weakness;
  - Positive Valgus Stress test on physical examination;
  - Limited range of motion and/or swelling /effusion identified on physical examination;
  - Prior imaging is positive for evidence of an MCL tear;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.



- Open surgery of the knee for posterior cruciate ligament (PCL) repair or reconstruction may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and **ALL** of the following: (9-21)
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living;
- Knee is giving way or exhibiting weakness;
- Positive Drawer, Tibial Drop Back or Quadriceps Active test on physical examination;
- Limited range of motion and/or swelling /effusion identified on physical examination;
- Prior imaging is positive for evidence of an PCL tear;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Open surgery of the knee for lateral retinacular release may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and BOTH of the following: (9-21)
  - Acute patellar dislocation;
  - Prior imaging demonstrates intra-articular fracture.
- Manipulation of the knee under anesthesia for treatment of arthrofibrosis may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates ALL of the following: (9-21)
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs;
  - Limited range of motion on physical examination;
  - Diagnosis of athrofibrosis;



- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Open surgery of the knee for meniscectomy/meniscal repair may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and **ALL** of the following: : (9-21)
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living;
  - Limited range of motion swelling/effusion or joint line tenderness identified on physical examination, or Positive McMurray's, positive Apley test, positive Cooperis sign on physical examination, or Patient reports painful buckling, clicking, popping, locking, or giving way/weakness of the knee;
  - Previous MRI of the knee demonstrates a meniscal tear;
  - Previous imaging demonstrates normal joint space;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Open surgery of the knee for patellar tendon realignment may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record demonstrates **EITHER** of the following: (9-21)
  - Q angle of greater than 15 degrees with a positive Patellar Apprehension test on physical exam; and **ALL** of the following:
    - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living;



- Repeated instability of the patella;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Prior imaging demonstrates an osteochondral defect; and ALL of the following;
  - Knee pain and associated functional disability which interferes with activities of daily living;
  - Repeated instability of the patella;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Open surgery of the knee for tumor resection with our without biopsy may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and **EITHER** of the following:
  - Known or suspected primary malignancy;
  - Known or suspected metastatic disease.
- Open surgery of the knee for fracture treatment is considered reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a documented fracture.



Knee	CODES:
Incision and drainage, deep abscess, bursa, or hematoma, thigh or knee region	27301
Incision, deep, with opening of bone cortex, femur or knee (eg, osteomyelitis or bone abscess)	27303
Arthrotomy, knee, with exploration, drainage, or removal of foreign body (eg, infection)	27310
Arthrotomy, knee; including joint exploration, biopsy, or removal of loose or foreign bodies	27331
Arthrotomy, with excision of semilunar cartilage (meniscectomy) knee; medial OR lateral	27332
Arthrotomy, with excision of semilunar cartilage (meniscectomy) knee; medial AND lateral	27333
Arthrotomy, with synovectomy, knee; anterior OR posterior	27334
Arthrotomy, with synovectomy, knee; anterior AND posterior including popliteal area	27335
Excision, prepatellar bursa	27340
Excision of lesion of meniscus or capsule (eg, cyst, ganglion), knee	27347
Excision or curettage of bone cyst or benign tumor of femur;	27355
Excision or curettage of bone cyst or benign tumor of femur; with allograft	27356
Excision or curettage of bone cyst or benign tumor of femur; with autograft (includes obtaining	27357
graft)	
Partial excision (craterization, saucerization, or diaphysectomy) bone, femur, proximal tibia	27360
and/or fibula (eg, osteomyelitis or bone abscess)	
Radical resection of tumor (eg, sarcoma), soft tissue of thigh or knee area; less than 5 cm	27329
Radical resection of tumor (eg, sarcoma), soft tissue of thigh or knee area; 5 cm or greater	27364
Radical resection of tumor, femur or knee	27365
Removal of foreign body, deep, thigh region or knee area	27372
Arthrotomy with meniscus repair, knee	27403
Repair, primary, torn ligament and/or capsule, knee; collateral	27405
Repair, primary, torn ligament and/or capsule, knee; cruciate	27407
Repair, primary, torn ligament and/or capsule, knee; collateral and cruciate ligaments	27409
Autologous chondrocyte implantation, knee	27412
Osteochondral allograft, knee, open	27415
Osteochondral autograft(s), knee, open (eg, mosaicplasty) (includes harvesting of autograft[s])	27416
Anterior tibial tubercleplasty (eg, Maquet type procedure)	27418
Reconstruction of dislocating patella; (eg, Hauser type procedure)	27420
Reconstruction of dislocating patella; with extensor realignment and/or muscle advancement or	27422
release (eg, Campbell, Goldwaite type procedure)	
Reconstruction of dislocating patella; with patellectomy	27424
Lateral retinacular release, open	27425
Ligamentous reconstruction (augmentation), knee; extra-articular	27427
Ligamentous reconstruction (augmentation), knee; intra-articular (open)	27428
Ligamentous reconstruction (augmentation), knee; intra-articular (open) and extra-articular	27429



Manipulation of knee joint under general anesthesia (includes application of traction or other fixation devices)	27570
Arthrodesis, knee, any technique	27580



- 1. Cram P, Lu X, Kates SL, et al. Total knee arthroplasty volume, utilization, and outcomes among Medicare beneficiaries, 1991-2010. JAMA 2012; 308:1227.
- 2. Kurtz S, Ong K, Lau E, et al. Projections of primary and revision hip and knee arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to 2030. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2007; 89:780.
- **3.** Mahomed NN, Barrett J, Katz JN, et al. Epidemiology of total knee replacement in the United States Medicare population. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2005; 87:1222.
- 4. Skou ST, Rasmussen S, Laursen MB, et al. The efficacy of 12 weeks non-surgical treatment for patients not eligible for total knee replacement: a randomized controlled trial with 1-year follow-up. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2015; 23:1465.
- Skou ST, Roos EM, Laursen MB, et al. A Randomized, Controlled Trial of Total Knee Replacement. N Engl J Med 2015; 373:1597.
- Arthroscopic Surgery doesn't help with Arthritis Knee Pain. Carmen Rodriguez https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2017/05/11/527915056/arthroscopic-surgery-doesnt-helpwith-arthritis-knee-pain
- 7. Knee arthroscopy versus conservative management in patients with degenerative knee disease: a systematic review. Romina Brignardello-Petersen-Gordon Guyatt-Rachelle Buchbinder-Rudolf Poolman-Stefan Schandelmaier-Yaping Chang-Behnam Sadeghirad-Nathan Evaniew-Per Vandvik BMJ Open 2017
- 8. Arthroscopic surgery not recommended for almost all cases of knee osteoarthritis. Susan Perry, 2017, https://www.minnpost.com/second-opinion/2017/05/arthroscopic-surgery-not-recommended-almost-allcases-knee-osteoarthritis
- 9. Total Knee Arthroplasty Volume, Utilization, and Outcomes Among Medicare Beneficiaries, 1991-2010 Peter Cram-Xin Lu-Stephen Kates-Jasvinder Singh-Yue Li-Brian Wolf - Jama – 2012
- **10.** Bozic KJ, Kurtz SM, Lau E, Ong K, Chiu V, Vail TP, Berry DJ., The epidemiology of revision total knee arthroplasty in the United States. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2009 Jan;91(1):128-33
- **11.** Azad, Abul Kalam, et al. "Role of Muscle Strengthening Exercise on Osteoarthritis of the Knee Joint." Journal of Medicine, vol. 12, no. 2, 2011, doi:10.3329/jom.v12i2.8418.
- Alexandra Kirkley, M.D.,\* Trevor B. Birmingham, Ph.D., Robert B. Litchfield, M.D., J. Robert Giffin, M.D., Kevin R. Willits, M.D., Cindy J. Wong, M.Sc., Brian G. Feagan, M.D., Allan Donner, Ph.D., Sharon H. Griffin, C.S.S., Linda M. D'Ascanio, B.Sc.N., Janet E. Pope, M.D., and Peter J. Fowler, M.D. "A Randomized Trial of Arthroscopic Surgery for Osteoarthritis of the Knee." NEJM, vol 359 no. 11, 2008



Shoulder: Arthrotomy, Arthrodesis, Acrominoplasty, Cyst/Tumor, Excision, Incision/Drainage, Fasciotomy, Fracture, Tenotomy, Ligament Repair

The use of open surgical procedure of the shoulder may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

- Open surgery of the shoulder may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and **ALL** of the following: (1-5, 7)
  - Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs;
  - Limited range of motion, swelling/effusion present on physical exam;
  - Previous imaging of the shoulder correlates with symptoms and physical presentation;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Open surgery of the shoulder for labral tear-bicipital tendon repair and/or debridement may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and **ALL** of the following: (1-5, 7)
  - Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs;
  - Limited range of motion on physical exam;

Clinical Guidelines for Medical Necessity Review of Musculoskeletal Surgery Services http://www.healthhelp.com |© 2019 HealthHelp. All rights reserved. 16945 Northchase Dr #1300, Houston, TX 77060 (281) 447-7000



- Shoulder weakness is present on physical exam;
- Positive O'Brien's, Anterior or Posterior Apprehension or Sulcus test;
- Previous imaging demonstrates labral tear and/or bicipital tendon pathology;
- At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Open surgery of the shoulder for rotator cuff repair may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and **ALL** of the following: (1-5,7)
  - Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs;
  - Limited range of motion in the shoulder;
  - Shoulder weakness is present on physical exam;
  - Positive Drop Arm, Neer Impingement, Hawkins Kennedy Impingement or Painful Arc test.
  - Previous imaging demonstrates a Grade II or III (full thickness) rotator cuff tear;
  - At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Open surgery of the shoulder for sub-acromial decompression/acromioplasty-distal clavicular excision may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and **ALL** of the following: (1-5,7)



- Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs;
- Limited range of motion in the shoulder;
- Shoulder weakness is present on physical exam;
- Positive Cross Arm Adduction, Arm Extension, Neer Impingement, Hawkins Kennedy Impingement, or Painful Arc test;
- Previous imaging demonstrates a labral tear and/or bicipital tendon pathology;
- At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Open surgery of the shoulder for chronic shoulder instability may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and **ALL** of the following: (1-

5,7)

- Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs;
- Recurrent shoulder instability/derangement;
- Positive O'Brien's, anterior or posterior apprehension or Sulcus test;
- Previous imaging is consistent recurrent shoulder instability/derangement;
- At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Open surgery of the shoulder for arthrodesis may be reasonable and appropriate when the patient's medical record specifies a contraindication to arthroscopic approach is present and **ALL** of the following: (1-5, 7)



- Shoulder pain and associated functional disability which interferes with ADLs;
- Limited range of motion in the shoulder;
- At least six (6) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
- At least six (6) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.

AND ANY of the following:

- Active tuberculosis or bacterial infection of the shoulder confirmed on previous imaging;
- Recurrent shoulder instability or internal derangement confirmed on previous imaging;
- Rotator cuff arthropathy/tear confirmed on previous imaging;
- Paralytic disorder of infancy confirmed on previous imaging;
- Brachial plexus palsy with flail shoulder confirmed on previous imaging;
- Failed previous total shoulder arthroplasty.



Shoulder	CODES:
Incision and drainage, shoulder area; infected bursa	23031
Incision, bone cortex (eg, osteomyelitis or bone abscess), shoulder area	23035
Arthrotomy, glenohumeral joint, including exploration, drainage, or removal of foreign body	23040
Arthrotomy, acromioclavicular, sternoclavicular joint, including exploration, drainage, or removal of	23044
foreign body	
Arthrotomy, glenohumeral joint, including biopsy	23100
Arthrotomy, acromioclavicular joint or sternoclavicular joint, including biopsy and/or excision of torn cartilage	23101
Arthrotomy, glenohumeral joint, with joint exploration, with or without removal of loose or foreign body	23107
Claviculectomy; partial	23120
Claviculectomy; total	23125
Acromioplasty or acromionectomy, partial, with or without coracoacromial ligament release	23130
Excision or curettage of bone cyst or benign tumor of clavicle or scapula;	23140
Excision or curettage of bone cyst or benign tumor of clavicle or scapula; with autograft (includes obtaining graft)	23145
Excision or curettage of bone cyst or benign tumor of clavicle or scapula: with allograft	23146
Excision or curettage of bone cyst or benign tumor of proximal humerus;	23150
Excision or curettage of bone cyst or benign tumor of proximal humerus; with autograft (includes obtaining graft)	23155
Excision or curettage of bone cyst or benign tumor of proximal humerus; with allograft	23156
Sequestrectomy (eg, for osteomyelitis or bone abscess), clavicle	23170
Sequestrectomy (eg, for osteomyelitis or bone abscess), scapula	23172
Sequestrectomy (eg, for osteomyelitis or bone abscess), humeral head to surgical neck	23174
Partial excision (craterization, saucerization, or diaphysectomy) bone (eg, osteomyelitis), clavicle	23180
Partial excision (craterization, saucerization, or diaphysectomy) bone (eg, osteomyelitis), scapula	23182
Partial excision (craterization, saucerization, or diaphysectomy) bone (eg, osteomyelitis), proximal humerus	23184
Ostectomy of scapula, partial (eg, superior medial angle)	23190
Resection, humeral head	23195
Radical resection of tumor; clavicle	23200
Radical resection of tumor; scapula	23210
Radical resection of tumor, proximal humerus	23220
Removal of prosthesis, includes debridement and synovectomy when performed; humeral or glenoid component	23334



Removal of prosthesis, includes debridement and synovectomy when performed; humeral and	23335
glenoid components (eg, total shoulder)	
Scapulopexy (eg, Sprengels deformity or for paralysis)	23400
Tenotomy, shoulder area; single tendon	23405
Tenotomy, shoulder area; multiple tendons through same incision	23406
Repair of ruptured musculotendinous cuff (eg, rotator cuff) open; acute	23410
Repair of ruptured musculotendinous cuff (eg, rotator cuff) open; chronic	23412
Coracoacromial ligament release, with or without acromioplasty	23415
Reconstruction of complete shoulder (rotator) cuff avulsion, chronic (includes acromioplasty)	23420
Tenodesis of long tendon of biceps	23430
Resection or transplantation of long tendon of biceps	23440
Capsulorrhaphy, anterior; Putti-Platt procedure or Magnuson type operation	23450
Capsulorrhaphy, anterior; with labral repair (eg, Bankart procedure)	23455
Capsulorrhaphy, anterior, any type; with bone block	23460
Capsulorrhaphy, anterior, any type; with coracoid process transfer	23462
Capsulorrhaphy, glenohumeral joint, posterior, with or without bone block	23465
Capsulorrhaphy, glenohumeral joint, any type multi-directional instability	23466
Prophylactic treatment (nailing, pinning, plating or wiring) with or without methylmethacrylate; clavicle	23490
Prophylactic treatment (nailing, pinning, plating or wiring) with or without methylmethacrylate; proximal humerus	23491
Manipulation under anesthesia, shoulder joint, including application of fixation apparatus (dislocation excluded)	23700
Arthrodesis, glenohumeral joint;	23800
Arthrodesis, glenohumeral joint; with autogenous graft (includes obtaining graft)	23802



- Kim SH, Wise BL, Zhang Y, Szabo RM. Increasing incidence of shoulder arthroplasty in the United States. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2011;93:2249–54.
- 2. Trofa D, Rajaee SS, Smith EL. Nationwide trends in total shoulder arthroplasty and hemiarthroplasty for osteoarthritis. Am J Orthop (Belle Mead NJ). 2014;43:166–72.
- **3.** Schairer WW, Nwachukwu BU, Lyman S, Craig EV, Gulotta LV. National utilization of reverse total shoulder arthroplasty in the United States. J Shoulder Elb Surg. 2015;24:91–7. Highlights the substantial increase in the use of reverse total shoulder arthroplastry over the past decade.
- Schairer WW, Nwachukwu BU, Lyman S, Craig EV, Gulotta LV. National utilization of reverse total shoulder arthroplasty in the United States. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2015 Jan;24(1):91-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jse.2014.08.026. Pub 2014 Oct 29.
- Nitin B. Jain, MD, MSPH1,2 and Ken Yamaguchi, MD, MBA3, The Contribution of Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty to Utilization of Primary Shoulder Arthroplasty. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2014 December; 23(12): 1905–1912.
- Jaicharan J. Iyengar, M.D., Sanjum P. Samagh, M.D., M.S., William Schairer, B.S., Gaurav Singh, M.D., M.P.H., Frank H. Valone III, M.D., and Brian T. Feeley, M.D. Current Trends in Rotator Cuff Repair: Surgical Technique, Setting, and Cost. Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery, 2014-03-01, Volume 30, Issue 3, Pages 284-288
- Chillemi C, Franceschini V. Shoulder Osteoarthritis. Arthritis. 2013;2013:370231. doi:10.1155/2013/370231
- 8. HCPUnet, Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. http://hcupnet.ahrq.gov (Accessed on December 20, 2012).



# Osteotomy

The use of osteotomy may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

- Use of osteotomy is medically appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when a bone graft is required.
- Use of osteotomy during internal or external fixation procedures of the may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates ALL of the following:
  - In or Out toeing, coxa vara or dysplasia that is either congenital or acquired; (5)
  - X-ray demonstrating malalignment of the hip with neck shaft angle of greater than or less than 130 degrees;
  - CT scan demonstrating ante version of less than 20 degrees.
- Use of osteotomy during transfer of the greater trochanter of the femur may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates BOTH of the following: (1-4)
  - Trendelenburg gait (abductor weakness);
  - Hip pain



Osteotomy	CODES:
Osteotomy, clavicle, with or without internal fixation;	23480
Osteotomy, clavicle, with or without internal fixation; with bone graft for nonunion or malunion (includes obtaining graft and/or necessary fixation)	23485
Osteotomy and transfer of greater trochanter of femur (separate procedure)	27140
Osteotomy, iliac, acetabular or innominate bone;	27146
Osteotomy, iliac, acetabular or innominate bone; with open reduction of hip	27147
Osteotomy, iliac, acetabular or innominate bone; with femoral osteotomy	27151
Osteotomy, iliac, acetabular or innominate bone; with femoral osteotomy and with open reduction of hip	27156
Osteotomy, femoral neck (separate procedure)	27161
Osteotomy, intertrochanteric or subtrochanteric including internal or external fixation and/or cast	27165
Bone graft, femoral head, neck, intertrochanteric or subtrochanteric area (includes obtaining bone graft)	27170
Osteotomy, multiple, with realignment on intramedullary rod, femoral shaft (eg, Sofield type procedure)	27454
Osteotomy, proximal tibia, including fibular excision or osteotomy (includes correction of genu varus [bowleg] or genu valgus [knock-knee]); before epiphyseal closure	27455
Osteotomy, proximal tibia, including fibular excision or osteotomy (includes correction of genu varus [bowleg] or genu valgus [knock-knee]); after epiphyseal closure	27457
Osteoplasty, femur; shortening (excluding 64876)	27465
Osteoplasty, femur; lengthening	27466



- Department of Orthopedics, Nemours/Alfred I. duPont Hospital for Children, Wilmington, DE; Valgus Hip Osteotomy in Children With Spondyloepiphyseal Dysplasia Congenita: Midterm Results; <u>https://insights.ovid.com/crossref?an=01241398-900000000-98611</u>
- Gillingham, Bruce L. MC, USN; Sanchez, Anthony A. MC, USNR; Wenger, Dennis R. MD; Pelvic Osteotomies for the Treatment of Hip Dysplasia in Children and Young Adults; <u>https://journals.lww.com/jaaos/Citation/1999/09000/Pelvic Osteotomies for the Treatment of Hip.5.asp</u> x
- Kotaro R. Shibata Shuichi Matsuda Marc R. Safran; Open treatment of dysplasia—other than PAO: does it have to be a PAO?; Journal of Hip Preservation Surgery, Volume 4, Issue 2, 1 July 2017, Pages 131–144, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jhps/hnv028</u>
- 4. Chunho Chen, Ting-Ming Wang and Ken N. Kuo; Pelvic Osteotomies for Developmental Dysplasia of the Hip; April 21st 2016Reviewed: January 18th 2017Published: April 12th 2017 DOI: 10.5772/67516
- Subtrochanteric valgus osteotomy in developmental coxa vara; Orthopaedic Surgery Department, Faculty of Medicine, Ain-Shams University, Cairo, Egypt Dr. Tamer EL-Sobky, 2 ElOboor Buildings, Salah Salem Street, Nasr City, Cairo, Egypt. E-mail: <u>moc.liamg@ykboslet</u>



# Spinal Decompression Surgery

The use of spinal decompression surgery, to include corpectomy, discectomy, laminotomy/ectomy, or foraminotomy/ectomy, may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

## Cervical Spine

- The use of cervical spine decompression surgery may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following:
  - CT or MRI of the cervical spine which demonstrates infection or tumor of the cervical spine or epidural hematoma/s;
  - CT or MRI of the cervical spine which demonstrates spinal fracture, dislocation, locked facets or displaced fracture fragments;
  - CT or MRI of the cervical spine which demonstrates moderate to severe foraminal stenosis and/or cervical disc herniation; and **ANY** of the following:
    - Myelopathy or progressing radiculopathy with weakness;
    - Hyperreflexia (Hoffman's sign); and ALL of the following:
      - Persistent neck or arm pain with alteration in ADLs;
      - Weakness, numbness or tingling and/or decreased motor skills;
      - Previous epidural and/or facet injections to the spinal region in question;
      - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;



- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.
- Radiculopathy; and **ALL** of the following:
  - Persistent neck or arm pain with alteration in ADLs;
  - Weakness, numbness or tingling and/or decreased motor skills;
  - Previous epidural and/or facet injections to the spinal region in question;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
  - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.

## Cervical Cordotomy

Additionally the use of cervical spine laminectomy with cordotomy may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates any incurable condition affecting the cervical spine, which has not responded to medication or intrathecal therapy. (13)



Cervical Spine	CODES:
Laminectomy with exploration and/or decompression of spinal cord and/or cauda equina, without facetectomy, foraminotomy or discectomy (eg, spinal stenosis), 1 or 2 vertebral segments; cervical	63001
Laminectomy with exploration and/or decompression of spinal cord and/or cauda equina, without facetectomy, foraminotomy or discectomy (eg, spinal stenosis), more than 2 vertebral segments; cervical	63015
Laminotomy (hemilaminectomy), with decompression of nerve root(s), including partial facetectomy, foraminotomy and/or excision of herniated intervertebral disc; 1 interspace, cervical	63020
Laminotomy (hemilaminectomy), with decompression of nerve root(s), including partial facetectomy, foraminotomy and/or excision of herniated intervertebral disc, reexploration, single interspace; cervical	63040
Laminectomy, facetectomy and foraminotomy (unilateral or bilateral with decompression of spinal cord, cauda equina and/or nerve root[s], [eg, spinal or lateral recess stenosis]), single vertebral segment; cervical	63045
Laminoplasty, cervical, with decompression of the spinal cord, 2 or more vertebral segments;	63050
Laminoplasty, cervical, with decompression of the spinal cord, 2 or more vertebral segments; with reconstruction of the posterior bony elements (including the application of bridging bone graft and non-segmental fixation devices [eg, wire, suture, mini-plates], when performed)	63051
Discectomy, anterior, with decompression of spinal cord and/or nerve root(s), including osteophytectomy; cervical, single interspace	63075
Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, anterior approach with decompression of spinal cord and/or nerve root(s); cervical, single segment	63081
Laminectomy and section of dentate ligaments, with or without dural graft, cervical; 1 or 2 segments	63180
Laminectomy and section of dentate ligaments, with or without dural graft, cervical; more than 2 segments	63182
Laminectomy with rhizotomy; 1 or 2 segments	63185
Laminectomy with rhizotomy; more than 2 segments	63190
Laminectomy with section of spinal accessory nerve	63191
Laminectomy with cordotomy, with section of 1 spinothalamic tract, 1 stage; cervical	63194
Laminectomy with cordotomy, with section of both spinothalamic tracts, 1 stage; cervical Laminectomy with cordotomy with section of both spinothalamic tracts, 2 stages within 14 days; cervical	63196 63198
Laminectomy for excision or occlusion of arteriovenous malformation of spinal cord; cervical Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, for excision of intraspinal lesion, single segment; extradural, cervical	63250 63300



/ertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection) partial or complete for excision of intraspinal	63304
esion, single segment: intradural, cervical	03301



## Lumbar Spine

- The use of lumbar spine decompression surgery may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following:
  - Progressive neurological findings, i.e. foot drop, loss of bowel and/or bladder control; (3, 6-9)
  - CT or MRI of the lumbar spine which demonstrates infection or tumor of the lumbar spine or epidural hematoma/s;
  - CT or MRI of the lumbar spine which demonstrates spinal fracture, dislocation, locked facets or displaced fracture fragments;
  - CT or MRI of the lumbar spine which demonstrates moderate to severe foraminal stenosis and/or lumbar disc herniation; and **ANY** of the following:
    - Myelopathy; and ALL of the following:
      - Persistent lumbar pain with alteration in ADLs; {1, 2, 3,6-9}
      - Weakness, numbness or tingling and/or decreased motor skills; (3,6-9)
      - Previous epidural and/or facet injections to the spinal region in question;<sub>(3, 10)</sub>
      - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; {2, 3, 7-8, 10}
      - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications. (2, 3, 7, 10)
      - For BMI greater than or equal to forty (40) patient must have made an attempt to lose weight without alleviation of symptoms (4,5).
    - Hyperreflexia (Hoffman's sign); and **ALL** of the following:
      - Persistent lumbar pain with alteration in ADLs; [1-3,6-9]
      - Weakness, numbness or tingling and/or decreased motor skills; <sup>{3,6-9}</sup>
      - Previous epidural and/or facet injections to the spinal region in question;  $_{\scriptscriptstyle (3,\ 10)}$



- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; {2, 3,7-8, 10}
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications. (2, 3, 7, 10)
- For BMI greater than or equal to forty (40) patient must have attempted to lose weight without alleviation of symptoms (4, 5).
- Lumbar laminectomy may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates a tethered spinal cord and **ALL** of the following: (11, 12)
  - Urinary dysfunction, back pain, shooting pain which extends down the legs, weakness or numbness of bilateral legs, tremor or spasm of the legs;
  - Progression of symptoms;
  - MRI or CT myelogram of the lumbosacral spine demonstrates a tethered spinal cord.

## Lumbar Cordotomy

Additionally the use of lumbar spine laminectomy with cordotomy may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates any incurable condition affecting the cervical spine, which has not responded to medication or intrathecal therapy. (13)



Lumbar Spine	CODES:
Laminectomy with exploration and/or decompression of spinal cord and/or cauda equina,	63005
without facetectomy, foraminotomy or discectomy (eg, spinal stenosis), 1 or 2 vertebral	
segments; lumbar, except for spondylolisthesis	
Laminectomy with exploration and/or decompression of spinal cord and/or cauda equina,	63011
without facetectomy, foraminotomy or discectomy (eg, spinal stenosis), 1 or 2 vertebral	
segments; sacral	
Laminectomy with removal of abnormal facets and/or pars inter-articularis with decompression	63012
of cauda equina and nerve roots for spondylolisthesis, lumbar (Gill type procedure)	
Laminectomy with exploration and/or decompression of spinal cord and/or cauda equina,	63017
without facetectomy, foraminotomy or discectomy (eg, spinal stenosis), more than 2 vertebral	
segments; lumbar	
Laminotomy (hemilaminectomy), with decompression of nerve root(s), including partial	63030
facetectomy, foraminotomy and/or excision of herniated intervertebral disc; 1 interspace,	
lumbar	
Laminotomy (hemilaminectomy), with decompression of nerve root(s), including partial	63042
facetectomy, foraminotomy and/or excision of herniated intervertebral disc, reexploration,	
single interspace; lumbar	
Laminectomy, facetectomy and foraminotomy (unilateral or bilateral with decompression of	63047
spinal cord, cauda equina and/or nerve root[s], [eg, spinal or lateral recess stenosis]), single	
vertebral segment; lumbar	
Transpedicular approach with decompression of spinal cord, equina and/or nerve root(s) (eg,	63056
herniated intervertebral disc), single segment; lumbar (including transfacet, or lateral	
extraforaminal approach) (eg, far lateral herniated intervertebral disc)	
Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, combined thoracolumbar	63087
approach with decompression of spinal cord, cauda equina or nerve root(s), lower thoracic or	
lumbar; single segment	
Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, transperitoneal or	63090
retroperitoneal approach with decompression of spinal cord, cauda equina or nerve root(s),	
lower thoracic, lumbar, or sacral; single segment	
Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, lateral extracavitary	63102
approach with decompression of spinal cord and/or nerve root(s) (eg, for tumor or retropulsed	
bone fragments); lumbar, single segment	
Laminectomy with rhizotomy; 1 or 2 segments	63185
Laminectomy with rhizotomy; more than 2 segments	63190
Laminectomy with section of spinal accessory nerve	63191
Laminectomy, with release of tethered spinal cord, lumbar	63200
Clinical Guidelines for Medical Necessity Peview of Musculaskalatal Surgery Services	
CITILICAL GUILETTIES TOT MEULATINECESSILY REVIEW OF MUSCUIOSKEIELATOU ZELVIES	

http://www.healthhelp.com |© 2019 HealthHelp. All rights reserved. 16945 Northchase Dr #1300, Houston, TX 77060 (281) 447-7000

Page 70 of 91



Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, for excision of intraspinal lesion, single segment; extradural, lumbar or sacral by transperitoneal or retroperitoneal approach	63303
Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, for excision of intraspinal lesion, single segment; intradural, lumbar or sacral by transperitoneal or retroperitoneal approach	63307
Percutaneous laminotomy/laminectomy (interlaminar approach) for decompression of neural elements, (with or without ligamentous resection, discectomy, facetectomy and/or foraminotomy), any method, under indirect image guidance (eg, fluoroscopic, CT), with or without the use of an endoscope, single or multiple levels, unilateral or bilateral; lumbar	0275T



- 1. Mannion, A., Brox, J., & Fairbank, J. (2013). Comparison of spinal fusion and non- operative treatment in patients with chronic low back pain: long-term follow-up of three randomized controlled trials. The Spine Journal, 13(11), 1438-1448.
- 2. Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE): Quality-assessed Reviews [Internet]. York (UK): Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (UK); 1995-. Surgery versus conservative treatment for symptomatic lumbar spinal stenosis: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. 2011.
- **3.** Tyler Engel, A. S. A. "Utilization and Cost of Surgery for Lumbar Spinal Stenosis in a Commercially Insured Population." (2015).
- Jin Jiang MD, Yuanjun Teng MD, Zhenzhen Fan MD, (2014). Does Obesity Affect the Surgical Outcome and Complication. Retrieved January 20, 2018, 2014, from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3916601/.
- Jeffrey A. Rihn, MD, Kristen Radcliff, MD, Alan S. Hilibrand, MD, David T. Anderson, MD, (2012). Does obesity affect outcomes of treatment for lumbar stenosis. Retrieved January 20, 2018, 2012, from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3757558/</u>
- 6. Shunji Tsutsui, Ryohei Kagotani, Hiroshi Yamada et al (2012). Can decompression surgery relieve low back pain in patients. Retrieved January 20, 2018, 2012, from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles</u>
- Daniel K. Resnick, M.D., 1 William C. Watters III, M.D., 2 Alok Sharan, M.D.et al (2014). Guideline update for the performance of decompression procedures. Retrieved January 20, 2018, 2014, from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24980590/</u>
- A. H. McGregor, A. K. Burton, P. Sell (2007). The development of an evidence-based patient booklet. Retrieved January 20, 2018, 2007, from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2200695/</u>
- S. Samuel Bederman, MD, Michael H. Ford, MD, Albert J.M. Yee, MD, Joel A. Finkelstein, MD<sup>+</sup> (2006). The who, what and when of surgery lumbar spine. Retrieved January 20, 2018, 2006, from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles</u>
- **10.** Amundsen T, Weber H, NordalHJ, et al. Lumbar spinal stenosis: conservative or surgical management? A Prospective 10 year study. *Spine* 2000; 25:1424-35.
- 11. Shokei Yamada, MD, PhD, FACS, Professor and Former Chairman, Department of Neurosurgery, Loma Linda University Tethered Cord Syndrome; <u>https://rarediseases.org/rare-diseases/tethered-cord-syndrome/</u>
- **12.** Gupta G, Heary RF, Michaels J. Reversal of longstanding neurological deficits after a late release of tethered spinal cord. Neurosurg Focus. 2010;29:E11.
- Alireza Feizerfan, JHL Antrobus; Role of percutaneous cervical cordotomy in cancer pain management, Continuing Education in Anaesthesia Critical Care & Pain, Volume 14, Issue 1, 1 February 2014, Pages 23– 26, https://doi.org/10.1093/bjaceaccp/mkt033


### Thoracic Spine

- The use of thoracic spine decompression surgery may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following:
  - CT or MRI of the thoracic spine which demonstrates infection or tumor of the thoracic spine or epidural hematoma/s; {2,4}
  - CT or MRI of the thoracic spine which demonstrates spinal fracture, dislocation, locked facets or displaced fracture fragments; (2,4)
  - CT or MRI of the thoracic spine which demonstrates moderate to severe foraminal stenosis and/or thoracic disc herniation; and **ANY** of the following: {1-2,4}
    - Myelopathy or progressing radiculopathy with weakness; [1,2,3,4]
    - Hyperreflexia (Hoffman's sign); and **ALL** of the following:
      - Persistent thoracic pain with alteration in ADLs; {1,2,4,5}
      - Weakness, numbness or tingling and/or decreased motor skills;(1,2,3,4,6)
      - Previous epidural and/or facet injections to the spinal region in question; (5)
      - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (5,6)
      - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications. (5,6)
    - Radiculopathy; and ALL of the following: {1,2,4,6}
      - Persistent thoracic pain with alteration in ADLs; {1,2,3,4}
      - Weakness, numbness or tingling and/or decreased motor skills;(1,2,3,4,6)
      - Previous epidural and/or facet injections to the spinal region in question; (5,6)



- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy; (5,6)
- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications. (5,6)

# Thoracic Cordotomy

Additionally the use of thoracic spine laminectomy with cordotomy may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates any incurable condition affecting the cervical spine, which has not responded to medication or intrathecal therapy. (7)



Thoracic Spine	CODES:
Laminectomy with exploration and/or decompression of spinal cord and/or cauda equina, without facetectomy, foraminotomy or discectomy (eg, spinal stenosis), 1 or 2 vertebral segments; thoracic	63003
Laminectomy with exploration and/or decompression of spinal cord and/or cauda equina, without facetectomy, foraminotomy or discectomy (eg, spinal stenosis), more than 2 vertebral segments; thoracic	63016
Laminectomy, facetectomy and foraminotomy (unilateral or bilateral with decompression of spinal cord, cauda equina and/or nerve root[s], [eg, spinal or lateral recess stenosis]), single vertebral segment; thoracic	63046
Transpedicular approach with decompression of spinal cord, equina and/or nerve root(s) (eg, herniated intervertebral disc), single segment; thoracic	63055
Costovertebral approach with decompression of spinal cord or nerve root(s) (eg, herniated intervertebral disc), thoracic; single segment	63064
Discectomy, anterior, with decompression of spinal cord and/or nerve root(s), including osteophytectomy; thoracic, single interspace	63077
Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, transthoracic approach with decompression of spinal cord and/or nerve root(s); thoracic, single segment	63085
Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, combined thoracolumbar approach with decompression of spinal cord, cauda equina or nerve root(s), lower thoracic or lumbar; single segment	63087
Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, lateral extracavitary approach with decompression of spinal cord and/or nerve root(s) (eg, for tumor or retropulsed bone fragments); thoracic, single segment	63101
Laminectomy with rhizotomy; 1 or 2 segments	63185
Laminectomy with rhizotomy; more than 2 segments	63190
Laminectomy with section of spinal accessory nerve	63191
Laminectomy with cordotomy, with section of 1 spinothalamic tract, 1 stage; thoracic	63195
Laminectomy with cordotomy, with section of both spinothalamic tracts, 1 stage; thoracic	63197
Laminectomy with cordotomy with section of both spinothalamic tracts, 2 stages within 14 days; thoracic	63199
Laminectomy for excision or occlusion of arteriovenous malformation of spinal cord; thoracic	63251
Laminectomy for excision or occlusion of arteriovenous malformation of spinal cord; thoracolumbar	63252
Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, for excision of intraspinal lesion, single segment; extradural, thoracic by transthoracic approach	63301



Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, for excision of intraspinal lesion single segment: extradural thoracic by thoracolumbar approach	63302
Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, for excision of intraspinal	63305
lesion, single segment; intradural, thoracic by transthoracic approach	00000
Vertebral corpectomy (vertebral body resection), partial or complete, for excision of intraspinal	63306
lesion, single segment; intradural, thoracic by thoracolumbar approach	



### **REFERENCES:**

- Anterior decompression and fusion for multiple thoracic disc herniation. K. OHNISHI, K. MIYAMOTO, Y. KANAMORI, H. KODAMA, H. HOSOE, K. SHIMIZU- The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. 2005;87-B:356-60.
- 2. Rahimi-Movaghar, Vafa. "Efficacy of surgical decompression in the setting of complete thoracic spinal cord injury." The journal of spinal cord medicine 28.5 (2005): 415-420.
- **3.** Matsuyama, Yukihiro, et al. "Indirect posterior decompression with corrective fusion for ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament of the thoracic spine: is it possible to predict the surgical results?." European Spine Journal 18.7 (2009): 943-948.
- 4. Chang, U. K., et al. "Surgical treatment for thoracic spinal stenosis." Spinal cord 39.7 (2001): 362.
- 5. Van Kleef, M., Stolker, R., Lataster, A., Geurts, J., Benzon, H., & Mekhail, N. (2010). 10. Thoracic Pain. Pain Practice, 10(4).
- 6. Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE): Quality-assessed Reviews [Internet]. York (UK): Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (UK); 1995-. Surgery versus conservative treatment for symptomatic lumbar spinal stenosis: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. 2011.
- Alireza Feizerfan, JHL Antrobus; Role of percutaneous cervical cordotomy in cancer pain management, Continuing Education in Anaesthesia Critical Care & Pain, Volume 14, Issue 1, 1 February 2014, Pages 23– 26, https://doi.org/10.1093/bjaceaccp/mkt033



# Spinal Fusion/Stabilization Surgery

The use of spinal fusion/stabilization surgery may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

# Cervical Spine

- The use of cervical spine fusion/stabilization surgery may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients 18 years of age or older, when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following: (1-7)
  - CT, MRI or flexion extension x-ray which demonstrates subluxation at C1 level of the atlantodento interval of more than 3mm in and adult;
  - CT or MRI of the cervical spine which demonstrates spinal fracture, dislocation, locked facets or displaced fracture fragments;
  - CT or MRI of the cervical spine which demonstrates infection or tumor of the cervical spine or epidural hematoma/s;
  - Persistent neck or arm pain with alteration in ADLs and weakness, numbness or tingling and/or decreased motor skills; and EITHER of the following:
    - Previous epidural and/or facet injections to the spinal region in question, at least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy and at least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or antiinflammatory medications;
    - CT of MRI demonstrates pseudo arthrosis with instability or deformity of the cervical spine.



Cervical Spine	CODES:
Osteotomy of spine, posterior or posterolateral approach, 1 vertebral segment; cervical	22210
Osteotomy of spine, including discectomy, anterior approach, single vertebral segment; cervical	22220
Percutaneous vertebroplasty (bone biopsy included when performed), 1 vertebral body,	22510
unilateral or bilateral injection, inclusive of all imaging guidance; cervicothoracic	
Arthrodesis, anterior transoral or extraoral technique, clivus-C1-C2 (atlas-axis), with or without	22548
excision of odontoid process	
Arthrodesis, anterior interbody, including disc space preparation, discectomy, osteophytectomy	22551
and decompression of spinal cord and/or nerve roots; cervical below C2	
Arthrodesis, anterior interbody technique, including minimal discectomy to prepare interspace	22554
(other than for decompression); cervical below C2	
Total disc arthroplasty (artificial disc), anterior approach, including discectomy with end plate	22586
preparation (includes osteophytectomy for nerve root or spinal cord decompression and	
microdissection); single interspace, cervical	
Arthrodesis, posterior technique, craniocervical (occiput-C2)	22590
Arthrodesis, posterior technique, atlas-axis (C1-C2)	22595
Arthrodesis, posterior or posterolateral technique, single level; cervical below C2 segment	22600
Arthrodesis, posterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; up to 6 vertebral segments	22800
Arthrodesis, posterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 7 to 12 vertebral segments	22802
Arthrodesis, posterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 13 or more vertebral segments	22804
Arthrodesis, anterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 2 to 3 vertebral segments	22808
Arthrodesis, anterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 4 to 7 vertebral segments	22810
Arthrodesis, anterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 8 or more vertebral segments	22812
Kyphectomy, circumferential exposure of spine and resection of vertebral segment(s) (including	22818
body and posterior elements); single or 2 segments	
Kyphectomy, circumferential exposure of spine and resection of vertebral segment(s) (including	22819
body and posterior elements); 3 or more segments	
Reinsertion of spinal fixation device	22849
Removal of posterior nonsegmental instrumentation (eg, Harrington rod)	22850
Removal of posterior segmental instrumentation	22852
Removal of anterior instrumentation	22855
Total disc arthroplasty (artificial disc), anterior approach, including discectomy with end plate	22856
preparation (includes osteophytectomy for nerve root or spinal cord decompression and	
microdissection); single interspace, cervical	
Revision including replacement of total disc arthroplasty (artificial disc), anterior approach, single	22861
interspace; cervical	



Removal of total disc arthroplasty (artificial disc), anterior approach, single interspace; cervical	22864
Removal of total disc arthroplasty (artificial disc), anterior approach, single interspace; lumbar	22865



### **REFERFENCES:**

- 1. Engquist M, Lofgren H, Oberg B. Surgery versus nonsurgical treatment of cervical radiculopathy: a prospective, randomized study comparing surgery plus physiotherapy with physiotherapy alone with a 2-year follow-up. Spine. 2013;38(20):1715-22.
- 2. Gebremariam L, Koes BW, Peul WC, et al. Evaluation of treatment effectiveness for the herniated cervical disc: a systematic review. Spine. 2012;37(2):E109-18
- Carragee EJ, et al. (2008). Treatment of neck pain. Injections and surgical interventions: Results of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. Spine, 33(4S): S153-S169
- American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS). Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy: Surgical Treatment Options. Reviewed November 2009. Available at: http://orthoinfo.aaos.org/topic.cfm?topic=A00539. Accessed August 26, 2013.
- Anderson, P.A., Matz, P.G., Groff, M.W., et al. Laminectomy and fusion for the treatment of cervical degenerative myelopathy. Neurosurg Spine. 2007;11: 150-6. Retrieved from <u>http://www.guideline.gov/content.aspx?id=24481&search=posterior+cervical+laminectomy</u>.
- Bono CM, Ghiselli G, Gilbert TJ, et al. An evidence-based clinical guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of cervical radiculopathy from degenerative disorders. Spine J. 2011;11(1):64-72. doi:10.1016/j.spinee.2010.10.023.
- Holly LT, Matz PG, Anderson PA, et al.; Joint Section on Disorders of the Spine and Peripheral Nerves of the American Association of Neurological Surgeons and Congress of Neurological Surgeons. Clinical prognostic indicators of surgical outcome in cervical spondylotic myelopathy. J Neurosurg Spine.2009; 11(2):112-118.



### Lumbar Spine

- The use of lumbar spine fusion/stabilization surgery may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates **ANY** of the following: (1) (3)(6)(7)
  - Positive discography with negative control and CT; (4)(5)
  - latrogenic or degenerative flat back syndrome; (13)(14)
  - CT or MRI of the lumbar spine which demonstrates spinal fracture, dislocation, locked facets or displaced fracture fragments; (15)
  - CT or MRI of the lumbar spine which demonstrates infection or tumor of the lumbar spine or epidural hematoma/s; (15)(16)(20)(21)
  - Full standing spine image indicates lumbar kyphosis with deformity of greater than 40 degrees and spinal cord compression and at least twelve (12) weeks of treatment with supervised physical therapy without relief; (17)
  - Full standing spine image indicates severe lumbar scoliosis with curvature of greater than 40 degrees and at least twelve (12) weeks of treatment with supervised physical therapy without relief and patient has been unresponsive to lumbar bracing; (18)(19)
  - Persistent lumbar pain with alteration in ADLs and weakness, numbness or tingling and/or decreased motor skills; and **EITHER** of the following: (2)
    - CT or MRI of the lumbar spine which demonstrates a moderate to severe degree of foraminal stenosis and correlates with symptoms or positive response of symptoms with pain management; and ALL of the following;

(9)(11)

- Previous epidural and/or facet injections to the spinal region in question; (2)(9)(11)(12)
- At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;

(2)(8)(9)(10)(11)



- At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications. (9)(11)
- CT of MRI demonstrates pseudo arthrosis with instability or deformity of the lumbar spine. (22)(23)



Lumbar Spine	CODES:
Osteotomy of spine, posterior or posterolateral approach, 3 columns, 1 vertebral segment (eg,	22207
pedicle/vertebral body subtraction); lumbar	
Osteotomy of spine, posterior or posterolateral approach, 1 vertebral segment; lumbar	22214
Osteotomy of spine, including discectomy, anterior approach, single vertebral segment; lumbar	22224
Percutaneous vertebroplasty (bone biopsy included when performed), 1 vertebral body,	22511
unilateral or bilateral injection, inclusive of all imaging guidance; lumbosacral	
Percutaneous vertebral augmentation, including cavity creation (fracture reduction and bone	22514
biopsy included when performed) using mechanical device (eg, kyphoplasty), 1 vertebral body,	
unilateral or bilateral cannulation, inclusive of all imaging guidance; lumbar	
Arthrodesis, lateral extracavitary technique, including minimal discectomy to prepare interspace	22533
(other than for decompression); lumbar	
Arthrodesis, anterior interbody technique, including minimal discectomy to prepare interspace	22558
(other than for decompression); lumbar	
Arthrodesis, posterior or posterolateral technique, single level; lumbar (with lateral transverse	22612
technique, when performed)	
Arthrodesis, posterior interbody technique, including laminectomy and/or discectomy to	22630
prepare interspace (other than for decompression), single interspace; lumbar	
Arthrodesis, combined posterior or posterolateral technique with posterior interbody technique	22633
including laminectomy and/or discectomy sufficient to prepare interspace (other than for	
decompression), single interspace and segment; lumbar	
Arthrodesis, posterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; up to 6 vertebral segments	22800
Arthrodesis, posterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 7 to 12 vertebral segments	22802
Arthrodesis, posterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 13 or more vertebral segments	22804
Arthrodesis, anterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 2 to 3 vertebral segments	22808
Arthrodesis, anterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 4 to 7 vertebral segments	22810
Arthrodesis, anterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 8 or more vertebral segments	22812
Kyphectomy, circumferential exposure of spine and resection of vertebral segment(s) (including	22818
body and posterior elements); single or 2 segments	
Kyphectomy, circumferential exposure of spine and resection of vertebral segment(s) (including	22819
body and posterior elements); 3 or more segments	
Reinsertion of spinal fixation device	22849
Removal of posterior nonsegmental instrumentation (eg, Harrington rod)	22850
Removal of posterior segmental instrumentation	22852
Removal of anterior instrumentation	22855



### **REFERENCES:**

- Spinal fusion in the United States: analysis of trends from 1998 to 2008. Rajaee SS, Bae HW, Kanim LE, Delamarter RB. Spine 2012;37(1):67–76. The Spine Journal – 2012
- 2. Surgical versus non-surgical treatment for lumbar spinal stenosis, Fabio Zaina Christy Tomkins-Lane -Eugene Carragee - Stefano Negrini - Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews - 2012
- 3. Utilization of Lumbar Spinal Fusion in New York State. Jeffrey Jancuska Lorraine Hutzler Themistocles Protopsaltis John Bendo Joseph Bosco Spine 2016
- 4. Clinical and radiological association with positive lumbar discography in patients with chronic low back pain. Contreras Lopez WO, Vialle E, Anillo C, Guzmao M, Vialle L. Evid Based Spine Care J. 2012 Feb; 3(1): 27–34.
- Using Provocative Discography and Computed Tomography to Select Patients with Refractory Discogenic Low Back Pain for Lumbar Fusion Surgery. Xi MA, Tong HC, Fahim DK, Perez-Cruet M. Cureus. 2016 Feb; 8(2): e514. Published online 2016 Feb 27. doi: 10.7759/cureus.514
- Andrade NSF, J. P.; Bartanusz, V. Twenty-year perspective of randomized controlled trials for surgery of chronic nonspecific low back pain: citation bias and tangential knowledge. The spine journal : official journal of the North American Spine Society. 2013;13(11):1698-704.
- Dhall SS, Choudhri TF, Eck JC, et al. Guideline update for the performance of fusion procedures for degenerative disease of the lumbar spine. Part 5: correlation between radiographic outcome and function. Journal of neurosurgery Spine. 2014;21(1):31-6
- 8. Froholdt A, Holm I, Keller A, et al. No difference in long-term trunk muscle strength, cross-sectional area, and density in patients with chronic low back pain 7 to 11 years after lumbar fusion versus cognitive intervention and exercises. Spine J. 2011;11(8):718-25.
- Manchikanti L, Abdi S, Atluri S, et al. An update of comprehensive evidence-based guidelines for interventional techniques in chronic spinal pain. Part II: guidance and recommendations. Pain physician. 2013;16(2 Suppl):S49-283.
- Mannion AF, Brox JI, Fairbank JC. Comparison of spinal fusion and nonoperative treatment in patients with chronic low back pain: long-term followup of three randomized controlled trials. Spine J. 2013;13(11):1438-48.
- **11.** National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management, (2016) London UK,
- **12.** Wang XW, P.; Tian, J. H.; Hu, L. Meta-analysis of randomized trials comparing fusion surgery to non-surgical treatment for discogenic chronic low back pain. J Back Musculoskeletal Rehabil. 2015;28(4):621-7.
- **13.** Guyer RD, Patterson M, et al. Failed Back Surgery Syndrome: Diagnostic Evaluation. Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. Volume 14, Number 9, September 2006
- Wiggins GC, Ondra SL, et al. Management of iatrogenic flat-back syndrome. Neurosurg Focus. 15 (3):Article 8, 2003
- Im SH, Lee KY, et al. Bilateral locked facets at lower lumbar spine without facet fracture: A case report. Korean J Spine. 9(3):278-280, 2012
- **16.** Yu HP, Fan SW, et al. Early diagnosis and treatment of acute or subacute spinal epidural hematoma. Chin Med J 120 : 1303-1308, 2007.
- 17. Yaman O, Dalbayrak S. Kyphosis: Diagnosis, Classification and Treatment Methods. Turkish Neurosurgery 2014, Vol: 24, Supplement: 1, 62-74
- **18.** Smith JS, Shaffrey CI, Berven S, et al. Improvement of back pain with operative and nonoperative treatment in adults with scoliosis. Neurosurgery. 2009;65(1):86–93; discussion 93-104.



- **19.** Wang G, Hu J, Liu X, Cao Y. Surgical treatments for degenerative lumbar scoliosis: a meta analysis. Eur Spine J. 2015: 24:1792–1799.
- **20.** Laufer I, Rubin DG, Lis E, Cox BW, Stubblefield MD, Yamada Y, et al. The NOMS framework: approach to the treatment of spinal metastatic tumors. Oncologist. 2013;18(6):744–51.
- **21.** Chaichana KL, Pendleton C, Wolinsky JP, Gokaslan ZL, Sciubba DM. Vertebral compression fractures in patients presenting with metastatic epidural spinal cord compression. Neurosurgery. 2009;65(2):267–74. discussion 74-5.
- 22. Peters M, Willems P, Weijers R, et al. Pseudarthrosis after lumbar spinal fusion: the role of 18F-fluoride PET/CT. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2015;42:1891–8. doi: 10.1007/s00259-015-3154-y.
- 23. Raizman NM, O'Brien JR, Poehling-Monaghan KL, Yu WD (2009) Pseudarthrosis of the spine. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 17:494–503



## Thoracic Spine

- The use of thoracic spine fusion/stabilization surgery may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates ANY of the following:
  - CT or MRI of the thoracic spine demonstrates significant spondylolisthesis of grade II or higher with progressive deformity and/or neurological compromise;
  - CT or MRI of the thoracic spine which demonstrates infection or tumor of the thoracic spine or epidural hematoma/s;
  - CT or MRI of the thoracic spine which demonstrates spinal fracture, dislocation, locked facets or displaced fracture fragments;
  - Full standing spine image indicates severe thoracic scoliosis with curvature of greater than 40 degrees and at least twelve (12) weeks of treatment with supervised physical therapy without relief and patient has been unresponsive to thoracic bracing;
  - Full standing spine image indicates thoracic kyphosis with deformity of greater than 60 degrees and spinal cord compression and at least twelve (12) weeks of treatment with supervised physical therapy without relief and patient has been unresponsive to thoracic bracing;
  - CT of MRI demonstrates pseudo arthrosis with instability or deformity of the thoracic spine with persistent thoracic pain with alteration in ADLs and weakness, numbness or tingling and/or decreased motor skills;
  - Persistent thoracic pain with alteration in ADLs and weakness, numbness or tingling and/or decreased motor skills; and ALL of the following:
    - Previous epidural and/or facet injections to the spinal region in question;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of supervised physical therapy;
    - At least twelve (12) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications.



The use of thoracic kyphoplasty or vertebroplasty may be appropriate and supported by evidence to improve outcomes for patients when the patient's medical record demonstrates the following:

- Persistent thoracic pain and/or deformity; and EITHER of the following: (1)
  - Treatment plan consists of treatment to 2 or less vertebrae; and ANY of the following:
    - Hemangiomas in the thoracic spine and radiation therapy not effective at relieving pain; (2, 10)
    - History of metastatic disease to the spine or myeloma and neither radiation therapy nor chemotherapy has been effective in relieving pain; (1, 10)
    - CT or MRI confirm osteoporotic or pathologic fracture; and **BOTH** of the following: (3,4,5,6,7,8,9)
      - Patient has had a trial of bracing for at least eight (8) weeks; (3,4,5,7,9)
      - At least eight (8) weeks of analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications or patient has a documented contraindication to analgesic or anti-inflammatory medications. (3,4,5,6,7)

### **REFERENCES:**

- Pflugmacher, R., Beth, P., Schroeder, R., Schaser, K., & Melcher, I. (2007). Balloon kyphoplasty for the treatment of pathological fractures in the thoracic and lumbar spine caused by metastasis: One-year followup. Acta Radiologica,48(1), 89-95. doi:10.1080/02841850601026427
- Boschi, V., Pogorelic, Z., Gulan, G., Perko, Z., Grandic, L., & Radonic, V. (n.d.). Management of Cementer Vertebroplasty in the Treatment of Vertebral Hemiangioma. *Scandinavian Journal of Surgery*, 100, 120-124. Retrieved February 8, 2019, from <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/145749691110000210</u>.



- 3. Lee, H. M., Park, S. Y., Lee, S. H., Suh, S. W., & Hong, J. Y. (2012). Comparative analysis of clinical outcomes in patients with osteoporotic vertebral compression fractures (OVCFs): conservative treatment versus balloon kyphoplasty. The Spine Journal, (11), 998.
- Goz, V., Errico, T., Weinreb, J., Koehler, S., Hecht, A., Lafage, V., & Qureshi, S. (2015). Vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty: national outcomes and trends in utilization from 2005 through 2010. The Spine Journal, 15(5), 959-965.
- Denoix, E., Viry, F., Ostertag, A., Parlier-Cuau, C., Laredo, J.-D., Cohen-Solal, M., ... Funck-Brentano, T. (2018). What are the predictors of clinical success after percutaneous vertebroplasty for osteoporotic vertebral fractures? *European Radiology*, 28(7), 2735–2742.
- McGuire R. AAOS Clinical Practice Guideline: the Treatment of Symptomatic Osteoporotic Spinal Compression Fractures. The Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. 2011;19(3):183-4.
- 7. Washington State Health Care Authority, Vertebroplasty, Kyphoplast and Sacroplasty Health Technology Assessment, (2010) Olympia WA, 126
- Jarrett, M. S., Orlando, J. F., & Grimmer-Somers, K. (2012). The effectiveness of land based exercise compared to decompressive surgery in the management of lumbar spinal-canal stenosis: a systematic review. BMC musculoskeletal disorders, 13, 30. doi:10.1186/1471-2474-13-30
- Comparison of spinal fusion and nonoperative treatment in patients with chronic low back pain: long-term follow-up of three randomized controlled trials. Anne Mannion - Jens Brox - Jeremy Fairbank - The Spine Journal – 2013
- Garza-Ramos, R. D., Benvenutti-Regato, M., & Caro-Osorio, E. (2016). Vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty for cervical spine metastases: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Spine Surgery*, 10, 7. doi:10.14444/3007



Thoracic Spine	CODES:
Osteotomy of spine, posterior or posterolateral approach, 3 columns, 1 vertebral segment (eg,	22206
pedicle/vertebral body subtraction); thoracic	
Osteotomy of spine, posterior or posterolateral approach, 1 vertebral segment; thoracic	22212
Osteotomy of spine, including discectomy, anterior approach, single vertebral segment; thoracic	22222
Percutaneous vertebral augmentation, including cavity creation (fracture reduction and bone	22513
biopsy included when performed) using mechanical device (eg, kyphoplasty), 1 vertebral body,	
unilateral or bilateral cannulation, inclusive of all imaging guidance; thoracic	
Arthrodesis, lateral extracavitary technique, including minimal discectomy to prepare interspace	22532
(other than for decompression); thoracic	
Arthrodesis, anterior interbody technique, including minimal discectomy to prepare interspace	22556
(other than for decompression); thoracic	
Arthrodesis, posterior or posterolateral technique, single level; thoracic (with lateral transverse	22610
technique, when performed)	
Arthrodesis, posterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; up to 6 vertebral segments	22800
Arthrodesis, posterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 7 to 12 vertebral segments	22802
Arthrodesis, posterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 13 or more vertebral segments	22804
Arthrodesis, anterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 2 to 3 vertebral segments	22808
Arthrodesis, anterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 4 to 7 vertebral segments	22810
Arthrodesis, anterior, for spinal deformity, with or without cast; 8 or more vertebral segments	22812
Kyphectomy, circumferential exposure of spine and resection of vertebral segment(s) (including	22818
body and posterior elements); single or 2 segments	
Kyphectomy, circumferential exposure of spine and resection of vertebral segment(s) (including	22819
body and posterior elements); 3 or more segments	
Reinsertion of spinal fixation device	22849
Removal of posterior nonsegmental instrumentation (eg, Harrington rod)	22850
Removal of posterior segmental instrumentation	22852
Removal of anterior instrumentation	22855



### **REFERERNCES:**

- Carragee EJ, et al. (2008). Treatment of neck pain. Injections and surgical interventions: Results of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. Spine, 33(4S): S153-S169.
- 2. Trends in the Treatment of Single and Multilevel Cervical Stenosis, Alfredo Arrojas J. Jackson Gregory Grabowski The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery 2017
- 3. Surgical versus non-surgical treatment for lumbar spinal stenosis, Fabio Zaina Christy Tomkins-Lane -Eugene Carragee - Stefano Negrini - Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews - 2012
- 4. Spinal fusion in the United States: analysis of trends from 1998 to 2008. Rajaee SS, Bae HW, Kanim LE, Delamarter RB. Spine 2012;37(1):67–76. The Spine Journal 2012
- 5. Utilization of Lumbar Spinal Fusion in New York State Jeffrey Jancuska Lorraine Hutzler Themistocles Protopsaltis John Bendo Joseph Bosco Spine 2016
- Vertebroplasty and Kyphoplasty: National Outcomes and Trends in Utilization from 2005 Through 2010 Vadim Goz - Thomas Errico - Jeffrey Weinreb - Steven Koehler - Andrew Hecht - Virginie Lafage - Sheeraz Qureshi - The Spine Journal – 2013
- 7. Comparative analysis of clinical outcomes in patients with osteoporotic vertebral compression fractures (OVCFs): conservative treatment versus balloon kyphoplasty, Hwan Lee - Si Park - Soon Lee - Seung Suh - Jae Hong - The Spine Journal – 2012
- Peer review report 2 on "Percutaneous Vertebroplasty Versus Conservative Treatment for Osteoporotic Vertebral Compression Fractures: An Updated Meta-analysis of Prospective Randomized Controlled Trials" International Journal of Surgery – 2017
- Comparison of spinal fusion and nonoperative treatment in patients with chronic low back pain: long-term follow-up of three randomized controlled trials. Anne Mannion - Jens Brox - Jeremy Fairbank - The Spine Journal – 2013
- 10. Milliman Report.
- Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE): Quality-assessed Reviews [Internet]. York (UK): Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (UK); 1995-. Surgery versus conservative treatment for symptomatic lumbar spinal stenosis: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. 2011. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK82899/